UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM S-1

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

INVO BIOSCIENCE, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

3841

(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)

20-4036208 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

Nevada (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

5582 Broadcast Court Sarasota, Florida, 34240

(978) 878-9505

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Steve Shum Chief Executive Officer INVO Bioscience, Inc. 5582 Broadcast Court Sarasota, Florida 34240 (978) 878-9505

(Name, address including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

With copies to:

Greg Carney, Esq. Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP 333 South Hope Street, 43rd Floor Los Angeles, CA 90071 (213) 620-1780

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of this registration statement.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box: X

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer 🗆 Accelerated filer 🗆 Non-accelerated filer X Smaller reporting company X Emerging Growth Company 🗆

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act. D

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or until the registration statement shall become effective and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not be sold until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offeror sale is not permitted.



INVO Bioscience, Inc.

Up to 6,241,493 Shares of Restricted Common Stock and Common Stock Issuable Upon Exercise of Certain Convertible Debentures and Common Stock Purchase Warrants

This prospectus relates to the offer and resale of up to an aggregate of 6,241,493 shares (the "Shares") of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share ("Common Stock"), of INVO Bioscience, Inc. (the "Company", "we", "us" or "our"), consisting of (A) 50,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February Purchase Agreement (defined below), (B) 150,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under that certain Equity Purchase Agreement, dated February 3, 2023, between the Company and the February Investor (defined below) and (C) shares of Common Stock issuable upon (i) the exercise of certain common stock purchase warrants (the "March 2023 Warrants"), to purchase up to 5,520,000 shares of Common Stock (the "March 2023 Warrant Shares"), at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share, issued by us to certain institutional investors on March 23, 2023 in a private placement transaction pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, dated as of March 23, 2023 (the "March Purchase Agreement"); (ii) the conversion of a convertible debenture (the "Debenture") in the current outstanding principal amount of \$100,000 plus accrued interest of \$1,775 through June 23, 2023, which is convertible at a fixed conversion price of \$0.52 into 195,721 shares of Common Stock (the "Conversion Shares") (iii) the exercise of common stock purchase warrants (the "Placement Agent Warrants") to purchase 147,200 shares of Common Stock (the "Placement Agent Warrant Shares") issued to Maxim Partners, LLC, as placement agent for the March Purchase Agreement, at an exercise price of \$0.8965 per share and (iv) the exercise of certain common stock purchase warrants (the "February 2023 Warrants," together with the March 2023 Warrants and the Placement Agent Warrants, the "Warrants"), to purchase up to 178,572 shares of Common Stock (the "February 2023 Warrant Shares," together with the March 2023 Warrant Shares and the Placement Agent Warrant Shares, the "Warrant Shares"), at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share, issued by us to a certain institutional investor (the "February Investor") on February 3, 2023 in a private placement transaction pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, dated as of February 3, 2023 (the "February Purchase Agreement"). The Warrants (other than the Placement Agent Warrants) are immediately exercisable and will expire five and eight years from the date of issuance for the February 2023 Warrants and the March 2023 Warrants, respectively. The Placement Agent Warrants are exercisable beginning on September 27, 2023 and expire five years from the date of issuance on March 27, 2023. The holders of the Warrants and the underlying Warrant Shares and the Debenture and the underlying Conversion Shares are each referred to herein as a "Selling Stockholder" and collectively as the "Selling Stockholders."

This prospectus describes the general manner in which the Shares may be offered and sold. If necessary, the specific manner in which the Warrant Shares may be offered and sold will be described in a supplement to this prospectus. The Warrants and Warrant Shares were each issued to the applicable Selling Stockholders in connection with private placement offerings pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder. For additional information regarding the issuance of the Warrants and Warrant Shares, see "February 2023 Convertible Debenture and Warrant Financing" and "Registered Direct Offering and Concurrent Private Placement" beginning on page 16.

This prospectus also covers any additional shares of Common Stock that may become issuable upon any anti-dilution adjustment pursuant to the terms of the Debenture and the Warrants issued to the Selling Stockholders by reason of stock splits, stock dividends, and other events described therein.

The Shares will be resold from time to time by the Selling Stockholders listed in the section titled "Selling Stockholders" beginning on page 18.

The Selling Stockholders, or their respective transferees, pledgees, donees or other successors-in-interest, will sell the Shares through public or private transactions at prevailing market prices, at prices related to prevailing market prices or at privately negotiated prices. The Selling Stockholders may sell any, all or none of the securities offered by this prospectus, and we do not know when or in what amount the Selling Stockholders may sell their Warrant Shares hereunder following the effective date of this registration statement. We provide more information about how a Selling Stockholder may sell its Warrant Shares in the section titled "Plan of Distribution" on page 23.

We are registering the Shares on behalf of the Selling Stockholders, to be offered and sold by them from time to time. While we will not receive any proceeds from the sale of our Common Stock by the Selling Stockholders in the offering described in this prospectus, we may receive up to \$0.63 per share upon the cash exercise of each of the Warrants. Upon the exercise of the Warrants for all 5,698,572 Warrant Shares by payment of cash, we would receive aggregate gross proceeds of approximately \$3.6 million. However, we cannot predict when and in what amounts or if the Warrants will be exercised, and it is possible that the Warrants may expire and never be exercised, in which case we would not receive any cash proceeds. We have agreed to bear all of the expenses incurred in connection with the registration of the Shares. The Selling Stockholders will pay or assume discounts, commissions, fees of underwriters, selling brokers or dealer managers and similar expenses, if any, incurred for the sale of the Shares.

The Common Stock is currently listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market ("Nasdaq") under the symbol "INVO." On June 22, 2023, the last reported sale price of our Common Stock was \$0.1745.

This offering will terminate on the earlier of (i) the date when all of the Securities registered hereunder have been sold pursuant to this prospectus or Rule 144 under the Securities Act, and (ii) the date on which all of such securities may be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions, unless we terminate it earlier.

Investing in our Common Stock involves risks. You should carefully review the risks described under the heading "Risk Factors" beginning on page 9 and in the documents which are incorporated by reference herein before you invest in our Common Stock.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is, 2023.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS	1
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	2
INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA	2

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY	3
ABOUT THIS OFFERING	8
<u>RISK FACTORS</u>	9
FEBRUARY 2023 CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND WARRANT FINANCING	16
REGISTERED DIRECT OFFERING AND CONCURRENT PRIVATE PLACEMENT	16
<u>SELLING STOCKHOLDERS</u>	18
USE OF PROCEEDS	20
DIVIDEND POLICY	21
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	22
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES THAT THE SELLING STOCKHOLDERS ARE OFFERING	22
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	23
DISCLOSURE OF COMMISSION POSITION ON INDEMNIFICATION FOR SECURITIES ACT LIABILITY	24
LEGAL MATTERS	24
EXPERTS	24
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	24
INCORPORATION OF DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE	24

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus describes the general manner in which the Selling Stockholders may offer from time to time up to an aggregate of 6,241,493 shares (the "Shares") of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share ("Common Stock"), of INVO Bioscience, Inc. (the "Company", "we", "us" or "our"), consisting of (A) 50,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February Purchase Agreement (defined below), (B) 150,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under that certain Equity Purchase Agreement, dated February 3, 2023, between the Company and the February Investor (defined below) (the "February 2023 Equity Purchase Agreement"), and (C) shares of Common Stock issuable upon (i) the exercise of certain common stock purchase warrants (the "March 2023 Warrants"), to purchase up to 5,520,000 shares of Common Stock (the "March 2023 Warrant Shares"), at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share, issued by us to certain institutional investors on March 23, 2023 in a private placement transaction pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, dated as of March 23, 2023 (the "March Purchase Agreement"); (ii) the conversion of a convertible debenture (the "Debenture") in the current outstanding principal amount of \$100,000 plus accrued interest of \$1,775, which is convertible at a fixed conversion price of \$0.52 into 195,271 shares of Common Stock (the "Conversion Shares"); (iii) the exercise of common stock purchase warrants (the "Placement Agent Warrants") to purchase 147,200 shares of Common Stock (the "Placement Agent Warrant Shares") issued to Maxim Partners, LLC, as placement agent for the March Purchase Agreement, at an exercise price of \$0.8965 per share and (iv) the exercise of certain common stock purchase warrants (the "February 2023 Warrants," together with the March 2023 Warrants and the Placement Agent Warrants, the "Warrants"), to purchase up to 178,572 shares of Common Stock (the "February 2023 Warrant Shares," together with the March 2023 Warrant Shares and the Placement Agent Warrant Shares, the "Warrant Shares"), at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share, issued by us to a certain institutional investor (the "February Investor") on February 3, 2023 in a private placement transaction pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, dated as of February 3, 2023 (the "February Purchase Agreement"). You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus and the related exhibits, any prospectus supplement or amendment thereto and the documents incorporated by reference, or to which we have referred you, before making your investment decision. Neither we nor the Selling Stockholders have authorized anyone to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. This prospectus, any prospectus supplement or amendments thereto do not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to purchase, the shares of Common Stock offered by this prospectus, any prospectus supplement or amendments thereto in any jurisdiction to or from any person to whom or from whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation of an offer in such jurisdiction. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement or amendments thereto, as well as information we have previously filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front cover of the applicable document.

If necessary, the specific manner in which the shares of Common Stock may be offered and sold will be described in a supplement to this prospectus, which supplement may also add, update or change any of the information contained in this prospectus. To the extent there is a conflict between the information contained in this prospectus and any prospectus supplement, you should rely on the information in such prospectus supplement, provided that if any statement in one of these documents is inconsistent with a statement in another document having a later date - for example, a document incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement - the statement in the document having the later date modifies or supersedes the earlier statement.

Neither the delivery of this prospectus nor any distribution of shares of Common Stock pursuant to this prospectus shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the information set forth or incorporated by reference into this prospectus or in our affairs since the date of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since such date.

When used herein, unless the context requires otherwise, references to "INVO", the "Company", "we", "our" or "us" refer to INVO Bioscience, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

1

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, any amendment and the information incorporated by reference into this prospectus contain various forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), which represent our expectations or beliefs concerning future events. Forward-looking statements include statements that are predictive in nature, which depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, and/or which include words such as "believes," "plans," "intends," "anticipates," "expects," "may," "will" or similar expressions. In addition, any statements concerning future financial performance, ongoing strategies or prospects, and possible future actions including any potential strategic transaction involving us, which may be provided by our management,

are also forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and projections about future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions about our company, economic and market factors, and the industry in which we do business, among other things. These statements are not guarantees of future performance, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as required by law. Actual events and results may differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in forward-looking statements due to a number of factors. Factors that could cause our actual performance, future results and actions to differ materially from any forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those discussed under the heading "Risk Factors" in this prospectus and in any of our filings with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act incorporated by reference into this prospectus. The forward-looking statements in this prospectus, and the information incorporated by reference herein represent our views as of the date such statements are made.

INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA

Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this prospectus concerning our industry and the market in which we operate, including our market position, market opportunity and market size, is based on information from various sources, on assumptions that we have made based on such data and other similar sources and on our knowledge of the markets for our products. These data sources involve a number of assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undue weight to such estimates.

We have not independently verified any third-party information. While we believe the market position, market opportunity and market size information included in this prospectus is generally reliable, such information is inherently imprecise. In addition, projections, assumptions and estimates of our future performance and the future performance of the industry in which we operate is necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in the section titled "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this prospectus and in any documents that we incorporate by reference into this prospectus and the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. These and other factors could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the estimates made by the independent parties and by us.

2

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus or incorporated by reference into this prospectus. This summary does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in our Common Stock. You should carefully read this entire prospectus, and our other filings with the SEC, including the following sections, which are either included herein and/or incorporated by reference herein, "Risk Factors", "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements", "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference herein, before making a decision about whether to invest in our securities.

Company Overview

We are a commercial-stage fertility company dedicated to expanding the assisted reproductive technology ("ART") marketplace by making fertility care accessible and inclusive to people around the world. Our flagship product is INVOcell, a revolutionary medical device that allows fertilization and early embryo development to take place *in vivo* within the woman's body. Our primary mission is to implement new medical technologies aimed at increasing the availability of affordable, high-quality, patient-centered fertility care. This treatment solution is the world's first intravaginal culture technique for the incubation of oocytes and sperm during fertilization and early embryo development. This technique, designated as "IVC", provides patients a more natural, intimate and more affordable experience in comparison to other ART treatments. The IVC procedure can deliver comparable results at a lower cost than traditional *in vitro* fertilization ("IVF") and is a significantly more effective treatment than intrauterine insemination ("IUI"). Our commercialization strategy is focused on the opening of dedicated "INVO Centers" offering the INVOcell and IVC procedure (with three centers in North America now operational) and the acquisition of existing IVF clinics, in addition to continuing to sell our technology solution into existing fertility clinics.

Operations

We operate with a core internal team and outsource certain operational functions in order to help accelerate our efforts as well as reduce internal fixed overhead needs and inhouse capital equipment requirements. Our most critical management and leadership functions are carried out by our core management team. We have contracted out the manufacturing, packaging/labeling and sterilization of the device to a contract medical manufacturing company that completes final product manufacturing as well as manages the gamma sterilization process at a U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") registered contract sterilization facility.

Market Opportunity

The global ART marketplace is a large, multi-billion industry growing at a strong pace in many parts of the world as increased infertility rates, increased patient awareness, acceptance of treatment options, and improving financial incentives such as insurance and governmental assistance continue to drive demand. According to the European Society for Human Reproduction 2020 ART Fact Sheet, one in six couples worldwide experience infertility problems. Additionally, the worldwide market remains vastly underserved as a high percentage of patients in need of care continue to go untreated each year for many reasons, but key among them are capacity constraints and cost barriers. While there have been large increases in the use of IVF, there are still only approximately 2.6 million ART cycles, including IVF, IUI and other fertility treatments, performed globally each year, producing around 500,000 babies. This amounts to less than 3% of the infertile couples worldwide being treated and only 1% having a child though IVF. The industry remains capacity constrained which creates challenges in providing access to care to the volume of patients in need. A survey by "Resolve: The National Infertility Association," indicates the two main reasons couples do not use IVF is cost and geographical availability (and/or capacity).

In the United States, infertility, according to the American Society of Reproductive Medicine (2017), affects an estimated 10%-15% of the couples of childbearing-age. According to the Centers for Disease Control ("CDC"), there are approximately 6.7 million women with impaired fertility. Based on preliminary 2020 data from the CDC's National ART Surveillance System, approximately 326,000 IVF cycles were performed at 449 IVF centers, leaving the U.S. with a large, underserved patient population, which is similar to most markets around the world.

Competitive Advantages

We believe that the INVOcell, and the IVC procedure it enables, have the following key advantages:

Lower cost than IVF with equivalent efficacy. The IVC procedure can be offered for less than IVF due to lower cost of supplies, labor, capital equipment and general overhead. The laboratory equipment needed to perform an IVF cycle is expensive and requires ongoing costs as compared to what is required for an IVC cycle. As a result, we also believe INVOcell and the IVC procedure enable a clinic and its laboratory to be more efficient as compared to conventional IVF.

The IVC procedure is currently being offered at practicing clinics at a range of \$5,000 - \$11,000 per cycle and from \$4,500 to \$7,000 at the existing INVO Centers, thereby making it more affordable than conventional IVF (which tends to average \$12,000 to \$17,000 per cycle or higher).

Improved efficiency providing for greater capacity and improved access to care and geographic availability. In many parts of the world, including the U.S., IVF clinics tend to be concentrated in higher population centers and are often capacity constrained in terms of how many patients a center can treat, with volume often limited by the number of capital-intensive incubators available in IVF clinic labs. With the significant number of untreated patients along with the growing interest and demand for services, the industry remains

challenged to provide sufficient access to care and to do so at an economical price. We believe INVOcell, and the IVC procedure it enables, can play a significant role in helping to address these challenges. According to the 2020 CDC Report, there are approximately 449 IVF centers in the U.S. We estimate that by adopting the INVOcell, IVF clinics can increase fertility cycle volume by up to 30% without adding to personnel, space and/or equipment costs. Our own INVO Centers also address capacity constraints by adding to the overall ART cycle capacity and doing so with comparable efficacy to IVF outcomes as well as at a lower per cycle price. Moreover, we believe that we are uniquely positioned to drive more significant growth in fertility treatment capacity in the future by partnering with existing OB/GYN practices. In the U.S., there are an estimated 5,000 OB/GYN offices, many of which offer fertility services (usually limited to consultation and IUI, but not IVF). Since the IVC procedure requires a much smaller lab facility, less equipment, and fewer lab personnel (in comparison to conventional IVF), it could potentially be offered as an extended service in an OB/GYN office. With proper training and a lighter lab infrastructure, the INVOcell could expand the business for these physicians and allow them to treat patients that are unable to afford IVF and provide patients with a more readily accessible, convenient, and cost-effective solution. With our three-pronged strategy (IVF clinics, INVO Centers and OB/GYN practices), in addition to lowering costs, we believe INVOcell and the IVC procedure can address our industry's key challenges, capacity and cost, by their ability to expand and decentralize treatment and increase the number of points of care for patients in need. This powerful combination of lower cost and added capacity has the potential to dramatically open up access to care for patients around the world.

<u>Greater patient involvement</u>. With the IVC procedure, the patient uses their own body for fertilization, incubation and early embryo development which creates a greater sense of involvement, comfort and participation. In some cases, this may also free people from barriers related to ethical or religious concerns, or fears of laboratory mix-ups.

Corporate History

We were formed on January 5, 2007 under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts under the name Bio X Cell, Inc. to acquire the assets of Medelle Corporation ("Medelle"). Dr. Claude Ranoux purchased all of the assets of Medelle, and then he contributed those assets, including four patents (which have since expired) relating to the INVOcell technology, to Bio X Cell, Inc. upon its formation in January 2007.

On December 5, 2008, Bio X Cell, Inc., doing business as INVO Bioscience, and each of the shareholders of INVO Bioscience entered into a share exchange agreement and consummated a share exchange with Emy's Salsa AJI Distribution Company, Inc., a Nevada corporation ("Emy's"). Upon the closing of the share exchange on December 5, 2008, the INVO Bioscience shareholders transferred all of their shares of common stock in INVO Bioscience to Emy's. In connection with the share exchange, Emy's changed its name to INVO Bioscience, Inc. and Bio X Cell, Inc. became a wholly owned subsidiary of Emy's (re-named INVO Bioscience, Inc.).

On November 2, 2015 we were notified by the FDA that the INVOcell and INVO Procedure were granted clearance via the de novo classification (as a Class II device) allowing us to market the INVOcell in the United States. Following this approval, we began marketing and selling INVOcell in many locations across the U.S. We currently have approximately 140 trained clinics or satellite facilities in the U.S. where patients can receive guidance and treatment for the INVO Procedure.

Recent Developments

Execution of Definitive Agreements to Acquire the Wisconsin Fertility Institute

On March 16, 2023, INVO Bioscience Inc., a Nevada corporation ("INVO"), through Wood Violet Fertility LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Buyer") and wholly owned subsidiary of INVO Centers LLC, a Delaware company wholly-owned by INVO, entered into binding purchase agreements to acquire Wisconsin Fertility Institute (the "Clinic") for a combined purchase price of \$10 million, including an asset purchase agreement with Wisconsin Fertility and Reproductive Surgery Associates, S.C., a Wisconsin professional service corporation d/b/a Wisconsin Fertility Institute ("WFRSA") and The Elizabeth Pritts Revocable Living Trust and a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement with Fertility Labs of Wisconsin, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company ("FLOW")., IVF Science, LLC owned by Wael Megid Ph.D. and Dr. Elizabeth Pritts as trustee for the Elizabeth Pritts Revocable Living Trust.

Λ.
+

The purchase price is payable in four installments of \$2.5 million each (which payments may be offset by assumption of certain Clinic liabilities, payable at closing and on each of the subsequent three anniversaries of closing. The sellers have the option to take all or a portion of the final three installments in shares of INVO common stock valued at \$6.25, \$9.09, and \$14.29, for the second, third, and final installments, respectively. The additional \$7.5 million in payments are secured by the Clinic having a lien on the assets purchased to acquire the Clinic.

The Clinic is comprised of (a) a medical practice, WFRSA, and (b) a laboratory services company, FLOW. WFRSA owns, operates and manages the Clinic's fertility practice that provides direct treatment to patients focused on fertility, gynecology and obstetrics care and surgical procedures, and employs physicians and other healthcare providers to deliver such services and procedures. FLOW provides WFRSA with related laboratory services. The combined financial statements of WFRSA and FLOW are incorporated by reference into this prospectus as further described under "Experts" on page 24.

February 2023 Convertible Debenture and Warrant Financing

In February 2023, we sold convertible debentures in the aggregate amount of \$500,000 for an aggregate purchase price of \$450,000 with warrants to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock at an initial exercise price of \$0.75 and 83,333 shares of our common stock. The debentures are initially convertible into Common Stock at an initial fixed conversion price of \$0.52 per share. This conversion price is subject to adjustment for stock splits, combinations or similar events and anti-dilution provisions, among other adjustments; provided, however, the adjustment for issuances of additional securities has a floor price as set forth in the Debenture. The debentures accrue interest at a rate of 8% and are payable on maturity dates of February 3, 2024 and February 17, 2024.

The debentures may not be converted and shares of Common Stock may not be issued under the debentures if, after giving effect to the conversion or issuance, the holder together with its affiliates would beneficially own in excess of 9.99% of the outstanding Common Stock. In addition to the beneficial ownership limitations in the debentures, the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under that certain securities purchase agreement (including the debenture and warrant and commitment shares issued thereunder) and the equity purchase agreement entered into by the Company both dated February 3, 2023 with the securities purchase agreement dated February 17, 2023, is limited to 19.99% of the outstanding Common Stock as of February 3, 2023 (the "Exchange Cap", which is equal to 2,436,045 shares of Common Stock, subject to adjustment as described in the Purchase Agreement), unless shareholder approval (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) ("Shareholder Approval") is obtained by the Company to issue more than the Exchange Cap. The Exchange Cap shall be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction.

While any portion of the debentures are outstanding, if we receive cash proceeds of more than \$2,000,000.00 (the "Minimum Threshold") in the aggregate from any source or series of related or unrelated sources, including but not limited to the issuance of equity or debt (except with respect to the issuance of equity or debt to officers and directors of the Company), the exercise of outstanding warrants for cash, the issuance of securities pursuant to an equity line of credit, or the sale of assets (for the avoidance of doubt, each time that the Company receives cash proceeds from any of the aforementioned sources, then such amount shall be aggregated together), we shall, within two (2) business days of our receipt of such proceeds, inform the Buyer of such receipt, following which the holders of debentures shall have the right in their sole discretion to require us to immediately apply up to 50% of all proceeds received by us above the Minimum Threshold to repay the outstanding amounts owed under the debentures.

January and March 2023 Convertible Note and Warrant Financings

In January and March 2023, we sold unsecured convertible notes of the Company in the aggregate original principal amount of \$410,000 (the "Notes") with a fixed conversion prices of \$0.50 (for the \$275,000 of January 2023 Notes) and \$0.60 (for the \$135,000 of March 2023 Notes) and (ii) 5-year warrants (the "Warrants") to purchase 387,500 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of \$1.00 (subject to adjustments) (the "Private Placement"). The proceeds were used for working capital and general corporate

purposes.

Interest on the Notes accrues at a rate of ten percent (10%) per annum and is payable at the holder's option either in cash or in shares of the Company's common stock at the conversion price set forth in the Notes on December 31, 2023 (the "Maturity Date"), unless converted earlier.

All amounts due under the Notes are convertible at any time after the issuance date, in whole or in part (subject to rounding for fractional shares), at the option of the holders into the Company's common stock at a fixed conversion price for the Notes as described above.

Upon any issuance by the Company of any of its equity securities in an underwritten offering, including Common Stock, for cash consideration, indebtedness or a combination thereof after the date hereof (a "Subsequent Equity Financing"), each holder shall have the option to convert the outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest of its Note into the number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of securities issued in the Subsequent Equity Financing ("Conversion Securities") equal to the product of unpaid principal, together with the balance of unpaid and accrued interest and other amounts payable hereunder, divided by the price per share paid by the investors in the Subsequent Equity Financing multiplied by 80%, provided however, that any conversion shall only be allowed if the Subsequent Equity Financing conversion price is equal to or greater than the Minimum Price (as defined in the Note) including an appropriate allocation any warrants offered.

A Note may not be converted and shares of common stock may not be issued under the Notes if, after giving effect to the conversion or issuance, the holder together with its affiliates would beneficially own in excess of 9.99% of the Company's outstanding ordinary shares.

The Company may prepay the Notes at any time in whole or in part by paying a s sum of money equal to 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed, together with accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with the holders of the Notes as of the date of Closing (the "Registration Rights Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of Registration Rights Agreement, if the Company determines to register any of its securities, either for its own account or the account of a security holder or holders, other than (i) a registration relating solely to employee benefit plans on Form S-8 (or any successor form) or (ii) a registration relating solely to a Commission Rule 145 transaction on Form S-4 (or any successor form), the Company will include in such registration, and in any underwriting involved therein, the shares underlying the Notes and Warrants delivered pursuant to the Purchase Agreements, subject to, in the case of an underwritten registration of the managing underwriter to reduce any or all piggyback registration shares if in its good faith judgment such inclusion would affect the successful marketing of the underwritten offering. The Registration Rights Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Registration Rights Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 10.2 and incorporated herein by reference

Notices from Nasdaq of Failure to Satisfy Continued Listing Rules.

Notice Regarding Non-Compliance with Minimum Stockholders' Equity

On November 23, 2022, we received notice (the "Stockholders' Equity Notice") from The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC ("Nasdaq") advising us that we were not in compliance with the minimum stockholders' equity requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market. Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) requires companies listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market to maintain stockholders' equity of at least \$2,500,000 (the "Stockholders' Equity Requirement). In our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, we reported stockholders' equity of \$1,287,224, which is below the Stockholders' Equity Requirement for continued listing. Additionally, as of the date of the Notice, we did not meet either of the alternative Nasdaq continued listing standards under the Nasdaq Listing Rules, market value of listed securities of at least \$35 million, or net income of \$500,000 from continuing operations in the most recently completed fiscal year, or in two of the three most recently completed fiscal years.

The Notice has no immediate effect on the listing of our common stock and our common stock continues to trade on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "INVO" subject to our compliance with the other continued listing requirements.

Pursuant to the Notice, Nasdaq gave us 45 calendar days, or until January 7, 2023, to submit to Nasdaq a plan to regain compliance. If our plan is accepted, Nasdaq may grant an extension of up to 180 calendar days from the date of the Notice to evidence compliance.

On January 18, 2023, we received a letter from Nasdaq under which it stated that based on our submission that Nasdaq has determined to grant us an extension of time to regain compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b) until May 22, 2023. We must furnish to the SEC and Nasdaq a publicly available report (e.g. a Form 8-K) which report, among other things, includes a description of the completed transaction or event that enabled us to satisfy the stockholders' equity requirement for continued listing After filing the publicly available report described above, if we fail to evidence compliance upon filing its periodic report for the June 30, 2023, with the SEC and Nasdaq, we may be subject to delisting. In the event we do not satisfy these terms, Nasdaq will provide written notification that its securities will be delisted. At that time, we may appeal Nasdaq's determination to a Hearings Panel.

On May 23, 2023, we were notified by the Listing Qualifications department (the "Staff") of Nasdaq that, based upon the Company's non-compliance with the \$2.5 million stockholders' equity requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Global Market, as set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) (the "Rule"), as of May 22, 2023, the Company's common stock was subject to delisting from Nasdaq unless the Company timely requests a hearing before the Nasdaq Hearings Panel (the "Panel").

We have requested a hearing before the Panel, which stays any further action by Nasdaq at least until the hearing process concludes and any extension that may be granted by the Panel has expired. At the hearing, we will present a plan to regain compliance with the Rule and request the continued listing of its common stock pending the Company's compliance with the Rule. There can be no assurances however that the Panel will agree to our request or that we will be able to evidence compliance with all applicable Nasdaq listing criteria within any extension of time that may be granted by the Panel.

6

As previously disclosed, the Staff granted the Company an extension to evidence compliance with the Rule through May 22, 2023. We were unable to do so, which resulted in the issuance of the Staff's determination.

Notice Regarding Failure to Maintain Minimum Bid Price

On January 11, 2023, we received a letter from the staff (the "Staff") of Nasdaq listing qualifications group indicating that, based upon the closing bid price of our common stock for the last 30 consecutive business days, we were not in compliance with the requirement to maintain a minimum bid price of \$1.00 per share for continued listing under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2).

The notice has no immediate effect on the listing of our common stock, and our common stock will continue to trade on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "INVO."

In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we have been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until July 10, 2023, to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. If at any time before July 10, 2023, the closing bid price of our common stock closes at or above \$1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, Nasdaq will provide written notification that we have achieved compliance with the minimum bid price requirement, and the matter would be resolved. If we do not regain compliance prior to July 10, 2023, then Nasdaq may grant us a second 180 calendar day period to regain compliance, provided we (i) meets the continued listing requirement for

market value of publicly-held shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, other than the minimum closing bid price requirement, and (ii) notifies Nasdaq of its intent to cure the deficiency within such second 180 calendar day period, by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary.

We will continue to monitor the closing bid price of our common stock and will consider implementing available options to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement under the Nasdaq Listing Rules. If we do not regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement within the allotted compliance periods, we will receive a written notification from Nasdaq that its securities are subject to delisting. We would then be entitled to appeal that determination to a Nasdaq hearings panel. There can be no assurance that we will regain compliance during either compliance period, or maintain compliance with the other Nasdaq listing requirements.

Available Information

Our principal executive offices 5582 Broadcast Court Sarasota, Florida 34240 and our telephone number is (978) 878-9505.

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "INVO".

Our principal Internet address is www.invobio.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website, is not, and shall not be deemed to be, incorporated in this prospectus supplement or considered a part thereof. We make available free of charge on www.invobio.com our annual, quarterly and current reports, and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

ABOUT THIS OFFERING

This prospectus relates to the offer and resale by the Selling Stockholders of up to 6,241,493 shares of restricted Common Stock and Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants and conversion of the Debentures. All of the Warrant Shares and Conversion Shares, if and when sold, will be sold by the Selling Stockholders. The Selling Stockholders may sell the Warrant Shares and Conversion Shares from time to time at prevailing market prices or at privately negotiated prices.

Shares offered by the Selling Stockholders:	Up to 6,241,493 shares of Common Stock consisting of: (i) 5,520,00 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the March 2023 Warrants: (ii) 195,721 shares of Common Stock upon conversion of the Debentures; (iii) 178,572 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the February 2023 Warrants; (iv) 50,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February 2023 Purchase Agreement; (v) 150,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February 2023 Equity Purchase Agreement and (vi) 147,200 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Placement Agent Warrants.
Shares of Common Stock outstanding after completion of this offering (assuming full exercise of the Warrants that are exercisable for the Warrant Shares offered hereby and full conversion of the Debenture):	22,579,073 ¹
Use of proceeds:	We will not receive any proceeds from any sale of the Warrant Shares or Conversion Shares by the Selling Stockholders. We will receive proceeds in the event that any of the Warrants are exercised at the exercise prices per share for cash which would result in gross proceeds of approximately \$3.7 million. Any proceeds that we receive from the exercise of the Warrants will be used for working capital expenditures, product development, and other general corporate purposes, including investments in sales and marketing in the United States and internationally. See "Use of Proceeds."
Risk factors:	An investment in the shares of Common Stock offered under this prospectus is highly speculative and involves substantial risk. Please carefully consider the "Risk Factors" section on page 9, other information in this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein for a discussion of risks. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also impair our business and operations
Nasdaq symbol:	INVO

RISK FACTORS

An investment in the securities offered under this prospectus involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider and evaluate all of the information contained in this prospectus and in the documents that we incorporate by reference herein before you decide to invest in our securities. In particular, you should carefully consider and evaluate the risks and uncertainties described under the heading "Risk Factors" in this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein. Investors are further advised that the risks described below may not be the only risks we face. Additional risks that we do not yet know of, or that we currently think are immaterial, may also negatively impact our business operations or financial results. Any of the risks and uncertainties set forth in this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein, as updated by annual, quarterly and other reports and documents that we file with the SEC and incorporate by reference into this prospectus, could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, which in turn could materially and adversely affect the value of our securities.

Risks Related to the Proposed Acquisition of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute

Our potential acquisition of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute may not close.

On March 16, 2023, we signed definitive acquisition agreement to acquire the Wisconsin Fertility Clinic ("WFI"). This transaction is subject to certain customary closing conditions, as well as an initial cash payment of approximately \$2.5 million less certain assumed liabilities and a holdback. We have not currently secured sufficient funds to make the initial closing payment which may impact our ability to close the transaction. In the event that we are unable to consummate our acquisition of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute, it will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.

¹ The number of shares of our Common Stock outstanding after completion of this offering is based on 16,537,580 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of June 23, 2023 and excludes the following as of such date: (a) up to an aggregate of 729,213 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding warrants not being registered in this prospectus; (b) up to an aggregate of 896,632 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding convertible notes not being registered in this prospectus; and (c) an aggregate of 2,477,932 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under the 2019 Stock Option Plan.

We may not be able to successfully integrate the Wisconsin Fertility Institute into INVO Bioscience and achieve the benefits expected to result from the acquisition.

The proposed acquisition of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute may present challenges to management, including the integration of the operations, and personnel of INVO Bioscience and the Wisconsin Fertility Institute and special risks, including possible unanticipated liabilities, unanticipated integration costs and diversion of management attention.

We cannot assure you that we will successfully integrate or profitably manage WFI's business. Even if we are able to integrate and profitably manage WFI's business, we cannot assure you that, following the transaction, our business will achieve sales levels, profitability, efficiencies or synergies that justify the acquisition or that the acquisition will result in increased earnings for us in any future period.

If we close our acquisition of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute and fail to make the required \$7.5 million in additional payments, our business would be adversely affected.

Following closing of our pending acquisition of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute, if consummated, we would be required to make additional payments of approximately \$7.5 million, which payments are secured the sellers having a lien on the assets purchased to acquire Wisconsin Fertility Institute. If we default on our additional payment obligations to the sellers of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute, such sellers could exercise their rights and remedies under acquisition agreements, which could include seizing the assets sold to us to acquire the Wisconsin Fertility Institute. Any such action would have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.

We may incur debt financing to provide the cash proceeds necessary to acquire the Wisconsin Fertility Institute. If we were unable to service any such debt, our business would be adversely affected.

In order to finance our proposed acquisition of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute, we may look to secure debt financing. Any such debt financing would likely require us to pledge all or substantially all of our assets as collateral. If we were unable to any such debt obligation and fail to pay such debt obligations in a timely fashion, we would be in default under such debt financing agreement and such lender could exercise its rights and remedies under such debt financing agreements, which could include seizing all of our assets. Any such action would have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.

Risks Related to Our Need for Additional Capital

We will need to raise additional funding, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed may force us to delay, limit or terminate operations.

We do not expect that our current cash position will be sufficient to fund our current operations for the next 12 months and we do not have sufficient funds to consummate our acquisition of the Wisconsin Fertility Institute. Our operating plan may change as a result of many factors currently unknown to us, and we may need to seek additional funds sooner than planned, through public or private equity or debt financings, government or other third-party funding or a combination of these approaches. Raising funds in the current economic environment may present additional challenges. Even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans, we may seek additional capital if market conditions are favorable or if we have specific strategic considerations.

9

Any additional fundraising efforts may divert our management from their day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates. In addition, we cannot guarantee that future financing will be available in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Moreover, the terms of any financing may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of our stockholders and the issuance of additional securities, whether equity or debt, by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our shares to decline. The sale of additional equity or convertible securities may dilute our existing stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed payment obligations and we may be required to agree to certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. We could also be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborative partners or otherwise at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable and we may be required to relinquish rights to some of our technologies or product candidates or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and prospects.

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely basis, we may be required to significantly curtail, delay or be unable to expand our operations or otherwise capitalize on our business opportunities, as desired, which could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Even if we can raise additional funding, we may be required to do so on terms that are dilutive to you.

The capital markets have been unpredictable in the past for unprofitable companies such as ours. In addition, it is generally difficult for development stage companies to raise capital under current market conditions. The amount of capital that a company such as ours is able to raise often depends on variables that are beyond our control. As a result, we may not be able to secure financing on terms attractive to us, or at all. If we are able to consummate a financing arrangement, the amount raised may not be sufficient to meet our future needs. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, or at all, our business, including our results of operations, financial condition and our continued viability will be materially adversely affected.

Risks Related to the Resale of the Warrant Shares and Conversion Shares and Ownership of Shares of our Common Stock

The Selling Stockholders may choose to sell the Warrant Shares and the Conversion Shares at prices below the current market price.

The Selling Stockholders are not restricted as to the prices at which they may sell or otherwise dispose of the Warrant Shares and Conversion Shares covered by this prospectus. Sales or other dispositions of the Warrant Shares and Conversion Shares below the then-current market prices could adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock.

A large number of shares of Common Stock may be sold in the market following this offering, which may significantly depress the market price of our Common Stock.

The Warrant Shares and Conversion Shares sold in the offering will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act. As a result, a substantial number of shares of Common Stock may be sold in the public market following this offering. If there are significantly more shares of Common Stock offered for sale than buyers are willing to purchase, then the market price of our Common Stock may decline to a market price at which buyers are willing to purchase the offered Common Stock and sellers remain willing to sell Common Stock.

Neither we nor the Selling Stockholders have authorized any other party to provide you with information concerning us or this offering.

You should carefully evaluate all of the information in this prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference herein and therein. We may receive media coverage regarding our Company, including coverage that is not directly attributable to statements made by our officers, that incorrectly reports on statements made by our officers or employees, or that is misleading as a result of omitting information provided by us, our officers or employees. Neither we nor the Selling Stockholders have authorized any other party to provide you with information concerning us or this offering, and recipients should not rely on this information.

The market price for our common stock is particularly volatile given our status as a relatively unknown company with a small and thinly traded public float, and lack of profits, which could lead to wide fluctuations in our share price.

The market for our common stock is characterized by significant price volatility when compared to the shares of larger, more established companies that have large public floats, and we expect that our share price will continue to be more volatile than the shares of such larger, more established companies for the indefinite future, although such fluctuations may not reflect a material change to our financial condition or operations during any such period. Such volatility can be attributable to a number of factors. First, as noted above, our common stock is, compared to the shares of such larger, more established companies, sporadically and thinly traded. The price for our common stock could, for example, decline precipitously in the event that a large number of our shares are sold on the market without commensurate demand. Secondly, we are a speculative or "risky" investment due to our lack of profits to date. As a consequence of this enhanced risk, more risk-adverse investors may, under the fear of losing all or most of their investment in the event of negative news or lack of progress, be more inclined to sell their shares on the market more quickly and at greater discounts than would be the case with the stock of a larger, more established company that has a large public float. Many of these factors are beyond our control and may decrease the market price of our common stock regardless of our operating performance.

In addition to being highly volatile, our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors that are beyond our control, including, but not limited to:

- variations in our revenues and operating expenses;
- actual or anticipated changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in stock market analyst recommendations regarding our common stock, other comparable companies or our industry generally;
- market conditions in our industry, the industries of our customers and the economy as a whole;
- actual or expected changes in our growth rates or our competitors' growth rates;
- developments in the financial markets and worldwide or regional economies;
- announcements of innovations or new products or services by us or our competitors;
- announcements by the government relating to regulations that govern our industry;
- sales of our common stock or other securities by us or in the open market;
- changes in the market valuations of other comparable companies; and
- other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control, including those resulting from such events, or the prospect of such events, including war, terrorism and other
 international conflicts, public health issues including health epidemics or pandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, and natural disasters such as fire, hurricanes,
 earthquakes, tornados or other adverse weather and climate conditions, whether occurring in the United States or elsewhere, could disrupt our operations, disrupt the
 operations of our suppliers or result in political or economic instability.

In addition, if the market for healthcare stocks or the stock market in general experiences loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial condition or operating results. The trading price of our shares might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry, even if these events do not directly affect us. Each of these factors, among others, could harm the value of our common stock. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market, securities class-action litigation has often been instituted against companies. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management's attention and resources, which could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We have been notified by Nasdaq of our failure to comply with certain continued listing requirements and, if we are unable to regain compliance with all applicable continued listing requirements and standards of Nasdaq, our common stock could be delisted from Nasdaq. Additionally, if Nasdaq does not grant us an extension or if a favorable decision is not be obtained from a hearings panel, or the Panel, after the hearing, our common stock would be delisted from Nasdaq.

Our common stock is currently listed on Nasdaq. In order to maintain that listing, we must satisfy minimum financial and other continued listing requirements and standards, including those regarding director independence and independent committee requirements, minimum stockholders' equity, minimum share price, and certain corporate governance requirements.

a.	5	
I	1	

On November 23, 2022, we received notice (the "Stockholders' Equity Notice") from The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC ("Nasdaq") advising us that we were not in compliance with the minimum stockholders' equity requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market. Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) requires companies listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market to maintain stockholders' equity of at least \$2,500,000 (the "Stockholders' Equity Requirement). In our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, we reported stockholders' equity of \$1,287,224, which is below the Stockholders' Equity Requirement for continued listing. Additionally, as of the date of the Notice, we did not meet either of the alternative Nasdaq continued listing standards under the Nasdaq Listing Rules, market value of listed securities of at least \$35 million, or net income of \$500,000 from continuing operations in the most recently completed fiscal year, or in two of the three most recently completed fiscal years.

The Notice has no immediate effect on the listing of our common stock and our common stock continues to trade on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "INVO" subject to our compliance with the other continued listing requirements.

Pursuant to the Stockholders' Equity Notice, Nasdaq gave us 45 calendar days, or until January 7, 2023, to submit to Nasdaq a plan to regain compliance. If our plan is accepted, Nasdaq may grant an extension of up to 180 calendar days from the date of the Notice to evidence compliance.

On January 18, 2023, we received a letter from Nasdaq under which it stated that based on our submission that Nasdaq has determined to grant us an extension of time to regain compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b) until May 22, 2023. We must furnish to the SEC and Nasdaq a publicly available report (e.g. a Form 8-K) which report, among other things, includes a description of the completed transaction or event that enabled us to satisfy the stockholders' equity requirement for continued listing After filing the publicly available report described above, if we fail to evidence compliance upon filing its periodic report for the June 30, 2023, with the SEC and Nasdaq, the Company may be subject to delisting. In the event we do not satisfy these terms, Nasdaq will provide written notification that its securities will be delisted. At that time, the Company may appeal Nasdaq's determination to a Hearings Panel.

On May 23, 2023, we were notified by the Listing Qualifications department (the "Staff") of Nasdaq that, based upon the Company's non-compliance with the \$2.5 million stockholders' equity requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Global Market, as set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) (the "Rule"), as of May 22, 2023, the Company's common stock was subject to delisting from Nasdaq unless the Company timely requests a hearing before the Nasdaq Hearings Panel (the "Panel").

We have requested a hearing before the Panel, which stays any further action by Nasdaq at least until the hearing process concludes and any extension that may be granted by the Panel has expired. At the hearing, we will present a plan to regain compliance with the Rule and request the continued listing of its common stock pending the Company's compliance with the Rule. There can be no assurances however that the Panel will hear our request or that we will be able to evidence compliance with all applicable Nasdaq listing criteria within any extension of time that may be granted by the Panel.

As previously disclosed, the Staff granted the Company an extension to evidence compliance with the Rule through May 22, 2023. We were unable to do so, which resulted in the issuance of the Staff's determination.

In addition, on January 11, 2023, we received a letter from the staff (the "Staff") of Nasdaq listing qualifications group indicating that, based upon the closing bid price of our common stock for the last 30 consecutive business days, we were not in compliance with the requirement to maintain a minimum bid price of \$1.00 per share for continued listing under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2).

In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we have been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until July 10, 2023, to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. If at any time before July 10, 2023, the closing bid price of our common stock closes at or above \$1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, Nasdaq will provide written notification that we have achieved compliance with the minimum bid price requirement, and the matter would be resolved. If we do not regain compliance prior to July 10, 2023, then Nasdaq may grant us a second 180 calendar day period to regain compliance, provided we (i) meets the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly-held shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, other than the minimum closing bid price requirement, and (ii) notifies Nasdaq of its intent to cure the deficiency within such second 180 calendar day period, by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary.

We will continue to monitor the closing bid price of our common stock and will consider implementing available options to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement under the Nasdaq Listing Rules. If we do not regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement within the allotted compliance periods, we will receive a written notification from Nasdaq that its securities are subject to delisting. We would then be entitled to appeal that determination to a Nasdaq hearings panel. There can be no assurance that we will regain compliance during either compliance period or maintain compliance with the other Nasdaq listing requirements.

In the event that our common stock is delisted from Nasdaq, as a result of our failure to comply with either the Stockholders' Equity Requirement or the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, or as a result of Nasdaq not granting us an extension or the Panel not granting us a favorable decision, or due to our failure to continue to comply with any other requirement for continued listing on Nasdaq, and is not eligible for listing on another exchange, trading in the shares of our common stock could be conducted in the over-thecounter market or on an electronic bulletin board established for unlisted securities such as the Pink Sheets or the OTC Bulletin Board. In such event, it could become more difficult to dispose of, or obtain accurate price quotations for, our common stock, and it would likely be more difficult to obtain coverage by securities analysts and the news media, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline further. Also, it may be difficult for us to raise additional capital if we are not listed on a national exchange.

1	2
I	Z

In the event that our Common Stock is delisted from Nasdaq, U.S. broker-dealers may be discouraged from effecting transactions in shares of our Common Stock because they may be considered penny stocks and thus be subject to the penny stock rules.

The SEC has adopted a number of rules to regulate "penny stock" that restricts transactions involving stock which is deemed to be penny stock. Such rules include Rules 3a51-1, 15g-1, 15g-2, 15g-3, 15g-4, 15g-5, 15g-6, 15g-7, and 15g-9 under the Exchange Act. These rules may have the effect of reducing the liquidity of penny stocks. "Penny stocks" generally are equity securities with a price of less than \$5.00 per share (other than securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or quoted on Nasdaq if current price and volume information with respect to transactions in such securities is provided by the exchange or system). Our shares have in the past constituted, and may again in the future constitute, "penny stock" within the meaning of the rules. The additional sales practice and disclosure requirements imposed upon U.S. broker-dealers for sales of penny stocks may discourage such broker-dealers from effecting transactions in shares of our Common Stock, which could severely limit the market liquidity of such shares and impede their sale in the secondary market.

A U.S. broker-dealer selling penny stock to anyone other than an established customer or "accredited investor" (generally, an individual with a net worth in excess of \$1,000,000 or an annual income exceeding \$200,000, or \$300,000 together with his or her spouse) must make a special suitability determination for the purchaser and must receive the purchaser's written consent to the transaction prior to sale, unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. In addition, the "penny stock" regulations require the U.S. broker-dealer to deliver, prior to any transaction involving a "penny stock", a disclosure schedule prepared in accordance with SEC standards relating to the "penny stock" market, unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. A U.S. broker-dealer is also required to disclose commissions payable to the U.S. broker-dealer and the registered representative and current quotations for the securities. Finally, a U.S. broker-dealer is required to submit monthly statements disclosing recent price information with respect to the "penny stock" held in a customer's account and information with respect to the limited market in "penny stocks".

Stockholders should be aware that, according to the SEC, the market for "penny stocks" has suffered in recent years from patterns of fraud and abuse. Such patterns include: (i) control of the market for the security by one or a few broker-dealers that are often related to the promoter or issuer; (ii) manipulation of prices through prearranged matching of purchases and sales and false and misleading press releases; (iii) "boiler room" practices involving high-pressure sales tactics and unrealistic price projections by inexperienced sales persons; (iv) excessive and undisclosed bid-ask differentials and markups by selling broker-dealers; and (v) the wholesale dumping of the same securities by promoters and broker-dealers after prices have been manipulated to a desired level, resulting in investor losses. Our management is aware of the abuses that have occurred historically in the penny stock market. Although we do not expect to be in a position to dictate the behavior of the market or of broker-dealers who participate in the market, management will strive within the confines of practical limitations to prevent the described patterns from being established with respect to our securities.

You may experience future dilution as a result of future equity offerings and other issuances of our common stock or other securities. In addition, this offering and future equity offerings and other issuances of our common stock or other securities may adversely affect our common stock price.

In order to raise additional capital, we may in the future offer additional shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common stock at prices that may not be the same as the price per share in this offering. We may not be able to sell shares or other securities in any other offering at a price per share that is equal to or greater than the price per share paid by the investor in this offering, and investors purchasing shares or other securities in the future could have rights superior to existing stockholders. The price per share at which we sell additional shares of our common stock or securities convertible into common stock in future transactions may be higher or lower than the price per share in this offering. You will incur dilution upon exercise of any outstanding stock options, warrants or upon the issuance of shares of common stock under our stock incentive programs. In addition, the sale of shares in this offering and any future sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the price of our common stock. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that market sales of those shares of common stock or the availability of those shares for sale will have on the market price of our common stock.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our stockholders in the public market could cause the market price of our common stock to decline, and any issuance of additional common stock, or securities convertible into common stock, could dilute common stockholders. We may issue additional common stock, or securities convertible into common stock, could dilute common stockholders. We may issue additional common stock, or securities convertible into common stock in convertible into common stock, pursuant to our shelf registration statement (including our at-the-market facility), upon exercise of outstanding warrants, for additional financing purposes, in connection with strategic transactions such as acquisitions or collaboration agreements, or otherwise, any of which could result in dilution to existing stockholders.

The sale of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could harm the prevailing market price of shares of our common stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.

Shares of our common stock held by certain other of our stockholders are eligible for resale, subject to volume, manner of sale and other limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act ("Rule 144"). By exercising their registration rights and selling a large number of shares, these stockholders could cause the prevailing market price of our common stock to decline.

As restrictions on resale end or if these stockholders exercise their registration rights, the market price of shares of our common stock could drop significantly if the holders of these shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds through future offerings of shares of our common stock or other securities.

In addition, the shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans will become eligible for sale in the public market once those shares are issued, subject to provisions relating to various vesting agreements, lock-up agreements and, in some cases, limitations on volume and manner of sale applicable to affiliates under Rule 144, as applicable. We have filed registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register shares of our common stock issuable pursuant to our equity incentive plan and our employee stock purchase plan and may in the future file one or more additional registration statements on FormS-8 for the same or similar purposes. Any such Form S-8 registration statements will automatically become effective upon filing. Accordingly, shares registered under such registration statements will be available for sale in the open market.

Substantial future sales of shares of our common stock could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

We expect that significant additional capital will be needed in the near future to continue our planned operations. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of our shares.

We have financed our operations, and we expect to continue to finance our operations, acquisitions, if any, and the development of strategic relationships by issuing equity, warrants and/or convertible securities, which could significantly reduce the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders. Further, any additional financing that we secure may require the granting of rights, preferences or privileges senior to, or pari passu with, those of our common stock. Additionally, we may finance strategic alliances and/or acquisitions by issuing our equity or equity-linked securities, which may result in additional dilution. Any issuances by us of equity securities may be at or below the prevailing market price of our common stock and in any event may have a dilutive impact on your ownership interest, which could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. We may also raise additional funds through the incurrence of debt or the issuance or sale of other securities or instruments senior to our shares of common stock. The holders of any securities or instruments we may issue may have rights superior to the rights of our holders of our common stock. If we experience dilution from issuance of additional securities and we grant superior rights to new securities over common stockholders, it may negatively impact the trading price of our shares of common stock.

We will have broad discretion as to the proceeds that we receive from the cash exercise by any holder of the Warrants, and we may not use the proceeds effectively.

We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the Warrant Shares by the Selling Stockholders pursuant to this prospectus. We may receive up to approximate \$3.6 million in aggregate gross proceeds from cash exercises of the Warrants, based on the per share exercise price of the Warrants, and to the extent that we receive such proceeds, we intend to use the net proceeds from cash exercises of the Warrants for working capital, capital expenditures, product development, and other general corporate purposes, including investments in sales and marketing in the United States and internationally. We have considerable discretion in the application of the such proceeds. You will not have the opportunity, as part of your investment decision, to assess whether such proceeds are being used in a manner agreeable to you. You must rely on our judgment regarding the application of the net proceeds from cash exercises of the Warrants, which may be used for corporate purposes that do not improve our profitability or increase the price of our shares of Common Stock. Such proceeds may also be placed in investments that do not produce income or that lose value. The failure to use such funds by us effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flow.

14

You may experience future dilution as a result of issuance of the Warrant Shares and Conversion Shares, future equity offerings by us and other issuances of our Common Stock or other securities. In addition, the issuance of the Warrant Shares and Conversion Shares and future equity offerings and other issuances of our Common Stock or other securities may adversely affect our Common Stock price.

In order to raise additional capital, we may in the future offer additional shares of our Common Stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for our Common Stock at prices that may not be the same as the price per share as prior issuances of Common Stock. We may not be able to sell shares or other securities in any other offering at a price per share that is equal to or greater than the price per share previously paid by investors, and investors purchasing shares or other securities in the future could have rights superior to existing stockholders. The price per share at which we sell additional shares of our Common Stock or securities convertible into Common Stock in future transactions may be higher or lower than the prices per share per share. In addition, the exercise price of the Warrants for the Warrant Shares may be or greater than the price per share previously paid by certain investors. You will incur dilution upon exercise of any outstanding stock options, warrants or upon the issuance of shares of Common Stock under our stock incentive programs. In addition, the issuance of the Warrant Shares and any future sales of a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the price of our Common Stock. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that market sales of those shares of Common Stock or the availability of those shares for sale will have on the market price of our Common Stock.

We could issue "blank check" preferred stock without stockholder approval with the effect of diluting then current stockholder interests and impairing their voting rights; and provisions in our charter documents could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable.

Our Articles of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of "blank check" preferred stock with designations, rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Board. The Board is empowered, without stockholder approval, to issue a series of preferred stock with dividend, liquidation, conversion, voting or other rights which could dilute the interest of, or impair the voting power of, our common stockholders. The issuance of a series of preferred stock could be used as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control. For example, it would be possible for the Board to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change control of our Company.

We do not intend to pay dividends on shares of our Common Stock for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on shares of our Common Stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our business and for general corporate purposes. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our Board. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their Common Stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.

FEBRUARY 2023 CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND WARRANT FINANCING

On February 3, 2023, we sold convertible debentures in the aggregate amount of \$300,000 for an aggregate purchase price of \$270,000 with warrants (after giving effect to antidilution adjustments) to purchase 150,000 shares of common stock at an initial exercise price of \$0.75 and 50,000 shares of our common stock. As a result of the lower exercise price for the Private Placement Warrants (defined below), these warrants are now exercisable for 178,572 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share. The debentures are initially convertible into Common Stock at an initial fixed conversion price of \$0.52 per share. This conversion price is subject to adjustment for stock splits, combinations or similar events and anti-dilution provisions, among other adjustments; provided, however, the adjustment for issuances of additional securities has a floor price as set forth in the Debenture. The debentures accrue interest at a rate of 8% and are payable on maturity dates of February 3, 2024.

The debentures may not be converted and shares of Common Stock may not be issued under the debentures if, after giving effect to the conversion or issuance, the holder together with its affiliates would beneficially own in excess of 9.99% of the outstanding Common Stock. In addition to the beneficial ownership limitations in the debentures, the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under that certain securities purchase agreement (including the debenture and warrant and commitment shares issued thereunder) and the equity purchase agreement entered into by the Company both dated February 3, 2023 with the securities purchase agreement dated February 17, 2023, is limited to 19.99% of the outstanding Common Stock as of February 3, 2023 (the "Exchange Cap", which is equal to 2,436,045 shares of Common Stock, subject to adjustment as described in the Purchase Agreement), unless shareholder approval (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) ("Shareholder Approval") is obtained by the Company to issue more than the Exchange Cap. The Exchange Cap shall be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction.

While any portion of the debentures are outstanding, if we receive cash proceeds of more than \$2,000,000.00 (the "Minimum Threshold") in the aggregate from any source or series of related or unrelated sources, including but not limited to the issuance of equity or debt (except with respect to the issuance of equity or debt to officers and directors of the Company), the exercise of outstanding warrants for cash, the issuance of securities pursuant to an equity line of credit, or the sale of assets (for the avoidance of doubt, each time that the Company receives cash proceeds from any of the aforementioned sources, then such amount shall be aggregated together), we shall, within two (2) business days of our receipt of such proceeds, inform the Buyer of such receipt, following which the holders of debentures shall have the right in their sole discretion to require us to immediately apply up to 50% of all proceeds received by us above the Minimum Threshold to repay the outstanding amounts owed under the debentures.

REGISTERED DIRECT OFFERING AND CONCURRENT PRIVATE PLACEMENT

On March 23, 2023, INVO Bioscience, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the "Company"), entered into a securities purchase agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with certain institutional investors, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell to such investors (i) in a registered direct offering, 1,380,000 shares (the "Shares") of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Common Stock"), of the Company, and pre-funded warrants (the "Pre-Funded Warrants") to purchase up to 2,300,000 shares of Common Stock, at an exercise price of \$0.01 per share of Common Stock, and (ii) in a concurrent private placement, common stock purchase warrants (the "Private Placement Warrants"), exercisable for an aggregate of up to 5,520,000 shares of Common Stock, at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share of Common Stock. The securities to be issued in the registered direct offering (priced at the marked under Nasdaq rules) were offered pursuant to the Company's shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File 333-255096) (the "Shelf Registration Statement"), initially filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), on April 7, 2021 and declared effective on April 16, 2021. The Pre-Funded Warrants are exercisable upon issuance and will remain exercisable until all of the Pre-Funded Warrants are exercised in full.

The Private Placement Warrants (and the shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Private Placement Warrants) were not registered under the Securities Act, and were offered pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506(b) promulgated thereunder. The Private Placement Warrants are immediately exercisable upon issuance, will expire eight years from the date of issuance, and in certain circumstances may be exercised on a cashless basis.

On March 27, 2023, the Company closed the offering, raising gross proceeds of approximately \$3 million before deducting placement agent fees and other offering expenses payable by the Company. In the event that all Private Placement Warrants are exercised for cash, the Company would receive additional gross proceeds of approximately \$3.5 million. The Company may use a portion of the net proceeds of the offering to repay the outstanding principal amount (at 105%) of those convertible debentures in the original principal amount of \$500,000 issued to accredited investors in February 2023 (the "February Investors") if requested by such February Investors as permitted under the terms of such convertible debentures. In addition, the Company may use a portion of the proceeds to pay the down payment for the acquisition of Wisconsin Facility Institute. The remainder of the net proceeds will be used for working capital, capital expenditures, and other general corporate purposes.

16

Under the Purchase Agreement, the Company is required within 30 days of the closing date of the offering to file a registration statement on Form S-1 (the "Resale Registration Statement") registering the resale of the shares of Common Stock issued and issuable upon the exercise of the Private Placement Warrants. The Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause such registration to become effective within 75 days of the closing date of the offering (or 120 days if the registration statement is subject to a full-review by the SEC), and to keep such registration statement effective at all times until no investor owns any Private Placement Warrants or shares issuable upon exercise thereof.

Also in connection with the offering, on March 23, 2023, the Company entered into a placement agency agreement (the "Placement Agency Agreement") with Maxim Group LLC (the "Placement Agent"), pursuant to which (i) the Placement Agent agreed to act as placement agent on a "best efforts" basis in connection with the offering and (ii) the Company agreed to pay the Placement Agent aggregate fee equal to 5.0% of the gross proceeds raised in the offering and warrants to purchase up to 147,200 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$0.8965 (the "Placement Agent Warrants"). The Placement Agent Warrants (and the shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Placement Agent Warrants) were not registered under the Securities Act, and were offered pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506(b) promulgated thereunder.

The Placement Agency Agreement and the Purchase Agreement contain customary representations, warranties and agreements by the Company, customary conditions to closing, indemnification obligations of the Company, the Placement Agent, or the investors, as the case may be, other obligations of the parties and termination provisions. Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, from the date hereof until 45 days after the after the effective date of the Resale Registration Statement, subject to certain exceptions, we may not issue, enter into any agreement to issue or announce the issuance or proposed issuance of any shares of common stock or common stock equivalents, or file any registration statement or any amendment or supplement thereto, other than (A) this prospectus supplement and (B) a Resale Registration Statement. In addition, from the date of this prospectus supplement until the one year anniversary of the closing date of the offering, we are prohibited from effecting or entering into an agreement to effect any issuance of common stock or common stock equivalents involving a variable rate transaction (as defined in the securities purchase agreement); provided, that an "at the market offering" shall not constitute a variable rate transaction.

In addition, pursuant to certain "lock-up" agreements, our officers and directors have agreed, for a period of 180 days from the date of the offering, not to engage in any of the following, whether directly or indirectly, without the consent of the purchaser under the Purchase Agreement: offer to sell, sell, contract to sell pledge, grant, lend, or otherwise transfer or dispose of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Common Stock (the "Lock-Up Securities"); enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Lock-Up Securities; make any demand for or exercise any right or cause to be filed a registration statement, including any amendments thereto, with respect to the registration of any Lock-Up Securities; enter into any transaction, swap, hedge, or other arrangement relating to any Lock-Up Securities subject to customary exceptions; or publicly disclose the intention to do any of the foregoing

SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The Warrant Shares being offered by the Selling Stockholders are those issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants and the Conversion Shares being offered by the Selling Stockholders upon conversion of the Debenture. For additional information regarding the issuance of these securities, see "February 2023 Convertible Debenture and Warrant Financing" and "Registered Direct Offering and Concurrent Private Placement" on page 16 of this prospectus. We are registering the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, the Conversion Shares issuable upon conversion of the Debenture and the Shares of Common Stock issuable as commitment shares in order to permit the Selling Stockholders to offer such shares for resale from time to time. Except for the ownership of the Warrants, the Debenture and the shares of Common Stock issued as commitment shares, none of the Selling Stockholders have had any material relationship with us within the past three (3) years.

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to each Selling Stockholder, including (i) the shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by the Selling Stockholder prior to this offering, (ii) the number of Warrant Shares, Conversion Shares and Shares of Common Stock being offered by the Selling Stockholder pursuant to this prospectus and (iii) the Selling Stockholder's beneficial ownership after completion of this offering. The registration of the Warrant Shares issuable to the Selling Stockholders upon the exercise of the Warrants, the Conversion Shares issuable to the Selling Stockholders will sell all or any of such shares, but the number of shares of Common Stock and percentages set forth in the final two columns below assume that all shares of Common Stock being offered by the Selling Stockholders are sold. The final two columns also assume the exercise of all of the Warrants. See "Plan of Distribution".

The table is based on information supplied to us by the Selling Stockholders, with beneficial ownership and percentage ownership determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to shares of Common Stock. This information does not necessarily indicate beneficial ownership for any other purpose. In computing the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by a Selling Stockholder and the percentage ownership of that Selling Stockholder, shares of Common Stock subject to warrants held by that Selling Stockholder that are exercisable for shares of Common Stock within 60 days after June 23, 2023, are deemed outstanding. Such shares, however, are not deemed outstanding for the purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other stockholder.

This prospectus covers the resale of up to an aggregate of 6,241,493, shares of Common Stock consisting of: (i) 5,520,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the March 2023 Warrants; (ii) 195,721 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Debentures; (iii) 178,572 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the February 2023 Warrants; (iv) 50,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February 2023 Purchase Agreement; (v) 150,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February 2023 Equity Purchase Agreement and (vi) 147,200 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Placement Agent Warrants ... See "February 2023 Convertible Debenture and Warrant Financing" and "Registered Direct Offering and Concurrent Private Placement" in this prospectus for further details relating to the Warrant Shares, the Warrants, the Conversion Shares, the Debenture and the commitment shares.

18

Name of Selling Stockholder	Number of Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned Prior to Offering ⁽¹⁾	Maximum Number of Shares of Common Stock to be Sold Pursuant to this Prospectus ⁽²⁾	Number of Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned After Offering ⁽³⁾	Percentage Beneficially Owned After Offering ⁽³⁾
Armistice Capital, LLC ⁽⁴⁾	5,520,000(7)	5,520,000	0	*
Peak One Opportunity Fund, LP ⁽⁵⁾	195,721(8)	195,721	0	*
Peak One Investments, LLC ⁽⁵⁾	378,572(9)	378,572	0	*
Maxim Partners, LLC ⁽⁶⁾	147,200(10)	147,200	0	*
TOTAL	6,241,493	6,241,493	0	*

*Less than 1%

- (1) All of the Warrants that are exercisable for the Warrant Shares offered hereby contain certain beneficial ownership limitations, which provide that a holder of the Warrants will not have the right to exercise any portion of its Warrants if such holder, together with its affiliates, would beneficially own in excess of 4.99% or 9.99%, as applicable, of the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise, provided that upon at least 61 days' prior notice to us, a holder may increase or decrease such limitation up to a maximum of 9.99% of the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding (each such limitation, a "Beneficial Ownership Limitation"). As a result, the number of shares of Common Stock reflected in this column as beneficially owned by each Selling Stockholder includes (i) any outstanding shares of Common Stock held by such Selling Stockholder, and (ii) if any, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Warrants exercisable for the Warrant Shares offered hereby and any other warrants that may be held by such Selling Stockholder, in each case which such Selling Stockholder has the right to acquire as of February 3, 2023 or within 60 days thereafter and without it or any of its affiliates beneficially owning more than 4.99% or 9.99%, as applicable, of the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock as of February 3, 2023.
- (2) Represents shares of Common Stock owned by the Selling Stockholders upon full exercise of the Warrants and conversion of the Debenture offered hereby.
- (3) The number of shares owned and the percentage of beneficial ownership after this offering set forth in these columns are based on 22,579,073 shares of Common Stock outstanding on June 23, 2023, which includes 16,537,580 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of such date and assumes full exercise of the Warrants that are exercisable for the 5,845,772 Warrant Shares offered hereby and full conversion of the Debenture that is convertible into 195,721 Conversion Shares. The calculation of beneficial ownership reported in such columns takes into account the effect of the Beneficial Ownership Limitations in any warrants held by the Selling Stockholders after this offering. We do not know when or in what amounts a Selling Stockholder may offer shares for sale. The Selling Stockholders may choose not to sell any or all of the shares offered by this prospectus. Because the Selling Stockholders may offer all or some of the Shares pursuant to this offering, we cannot estimate the number of the Shares that will be held by the Selling Stockholders after completion of the offering. However, for purposes of this table, we have assumed that, after completion of the offering, all of the Shares covered by this prospectus will be sold by the Selling Stockholders and that the Selling Stockholders do not acquire beneficial ownership of any additional shares.
- (4) The securities are directly held by Armistice Capital Master Fund Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company (the "Master Fund"), and may be deemed to be indirectly beneficially owned by: (i) Armistice Capital, LLC ("Armistice"), as the investment manager of the Master Fund; and (ii) Steven Boyd, as the Managing Member of Armistice Capital. The warrants are subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 4.99%, which such limitation restricts the Selling Stockholder from exercising that portion of the warrants that would result in the Selling Stockholder and its affiliates owning, after exercise, a number of shares of common stock in excess of the beneficial ownership limitation. The address of Armistice Capital Master Fund Ltd. is c/o Armistice Capital, LLC, 510 Madison Avenue, 7th Floor, New York, NY 10022.
- (5) Jason Goldstein exercises voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares of our common stock that are beneficially owned by Peak One and Peak One Investments.
- (6) MJR Holdings LLC owns a majority of the outstanding membership interest of Maxim Partners. Mr. Michael Rabinowitz is the managing member of MJR Holdings LLC. As such, each of Maxim Partners, MJR Holdings LLC and Mr. Rabinowitz may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares of common stock held directly by INVO Bioscience, Inc. Each such entity or person disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported shares other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest they may have therein, directly or indirectly. The business address for this Selling Securityholder is c/o Maxim Group LLC, 300 Park Avenue, 16th Floor, New York, New York, 10022.

- (7) Consists of 5,520,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of a Common Stock Warrant, without giving effect to the blocker provision described above, which will become exercisable on September 6, 2022.
- (8) Consists of 195,721 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of the Debenture.
- (9) Consist of (i) 200,000 shares of Common Stock held direct; and (iii) 178,572 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of a Common Stock Warrant, without giving effect to the blocker provision described above.
- (10) Consist of 147, 200 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Placement Agent Warrants.

19

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the Warrant Shares or Conversion Shares by the Selling Stockholders pursuant to this prospectus. We may receive up to approximately \$3.7 million in aggregate gross proceeds from cash exercises of the Warrants, based on the per share exercise price of the Warrants. We intend to use any net proceeds we receive for working capital, capital expenditures, product development, and other general corporate purposes, including investments in sales and marketing in the United States and internationally. We have not allocated specific amounts of net proceeds for any of these purposes; however, we are required pursuant to the terms of the February 2023 Purchase Agreements to direct 50% of the gross proceeds we may receive from any cash exercises of the Warrants to repay a portion of the Debentures, unless the February 2023 investors elect to waive such repayment.

The Selling Stockholders will pay any agent's commissions and expenses they incur for brokerage, accounting, tax or legal services or any other expenses that they incur in disposing of the shares of Common Stock. We will bear all other costs, fees and expenses incurred in effecting the registration of the shares of Common Stock covered by this prospectus and any prospectus supplement. These may include, without limitation, all registration and filing fees, SEC filing fees and expenses of compliance with state securities or "blue sky" laws.

We cannot predict when or if the Warrants will be exercised, and it is possible that the Warrants may expire and never be exercised, nor can we predict when the Debenture will be converted, if at all. In addition, the Warrants are exercisable on a cashless basis after six (6) months from the date of issuance if at the time of exercise there is no effective registration statement registering, or the prospectus contained therein is not available for, the issuance of the Warrant Shares. As a result, we may never receive meaningful, or any, cash proceeds from the exercise of the Warrants, and we cannot plan on any specific uses of any proceeds we may receive beyond the purposes described herein.

See "Plan of Distribution" elsewhere in this prospectus for more information.

20

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our Common Stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for the operation and expansion of our business and, therefore, we do not anticipate declaring or paying dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our Board and will depend on our results of operations, capital requirements, financial condition, prospects, contractual arrangements, any limitations on payment of dividends present in our future debt agreements, and other factors that our Board may deem relevant.

21

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table and notes set forth the beneficial ownership of the common stock of the Company as of June 23, 2023, by each person who was known by the Company to beneficially own more than 5% of the common stock, by each director and named executive officer, and by all directors and executive officers as a group. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or dispositive power with respect to the securities. Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowledge, all persons listed below have sole voting and dispositive power with respect to their shares of our common stock, except to the extent authority is shared by spouses under applicable law. Unless otherwise noted, the address of all of the individuals and entities named below is c/o INVO Bioscience, Inc., 5582 Broadcast Court Sarasota, Florida, 34240.

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of our common shares as of June 23, 2023 for:

- each person, or group of affiliated persons, who is known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common shares;
- each of our named executive officers;
- each of our directors; and
- all of our current executive officers and directors as a group.

The percentage ownership information is based upon 16,537,580 common shares outstanding as of June 23, 2023. The percentage ownership information shown in the table after this offering is based upon 22,579,073 shares of Common Stock (assuming full exercise of the Warrants to purchase 5,845,772 Warrant Shares and full conversion of the Debenture into 195,721 shares). We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. These rules generally attribute beneficial ownership of securities to persons who possess sole or shared voting power or investment power with respect to those securities. Unless otherwise indicated, the persons or entities identified in this table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them, subject to applicable community property laws. Unless otherwise indicated the address for persons listed in the table is c/o INVO Bioscience, Inc., 5582 Broadcast Court, Sarasota, FL 34240.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)	Number of Shares	Percentage of Common Stock	Percentage of Common Stock Beneficially Owned After this <u>Offering</u>
5% Stockholders:			
None	-	-	-
Officers and Directors			
Andrea Goren	377,185(3)	2.25%	1.65%
Michael Campbell	361,929(4)	2.15%	1.58%
Steve Shum	323,222(5)	1.93%	1.42%

Matthew Szot	112,670(6)	0.68%	0.50%
Trent Davis	104,003(7)	0.63%	0.46%
Barbara Ryan	100,405(8)	0.60%	0.44%
Rebecca Messina	81,822(9)	0.49%	0.36%
All directors and executive officers as a group (7 persons)	1,461,236	8.73%	6.42%

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the business address of each current director or executive officer is INVO Bioscience, Inc. 5582 Broadcast Court Sarasota, Florida 34240.

- (2) The address is 88 Chestnut Street, Winchester, MA 01889.
- (3) Includes: 227,990 shares of common stock under options (either presently exercisable or within 60 days of June 23, 2023).
- (4) Includes: 293,785 shares of common stock under options (either presently exercisable or within 60 days of June 23, 2023).
- (5) Includes: 204,858 shares of common stock under options (either presently exercisable or within 60 days of June 23, 2023).
- (6) Includes: 73,495 shares of common stock under options (either presently exercisable or within 60 days of June 23, 2023).
- (7) Includes: 70,381 shares of common stock under options (either presently exercisable or within 60 days of June 23, 2023).
- (8) Includes: 68,826 shares of common stock under options (either presently exercisable or within 60 days of June 23, 2023).
- (9) Includes: 58,837 shares of common stock under options (either presently exercisable or within 60 days of June 23, 2023).

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES THAT THE SELLING STOCKHOLDERS ARE OFFERING

The Selling Stockholders are offering for resale up to an aggregate of 6,241,493 shares of Common Stock consisting of: (i) 5,520,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the March 2023 Warrants: (ii) 195,721 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Debentures; (iii) 178,572 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the February 2023 Warrants; (iv) 50,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February 2023 Purchase Agreement; (v) 150,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February 2023 Purchase Agreement; (v) 150,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February 2023 Purchase Agreement; (v) 150,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee under the February 2023 Equity Purchase Agreement and (vi) 147,200 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Placement Agent Warrants. The following summary of the terms of our shares of Common Stock is based upon our Articles of Incorporation and our bylaws, which were filed as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. For a description of our Common Stock, see our Registration Statement on Form 8-A, filed with the SEC on November 12, 2020 under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, including any amendments or reports filed for the purpose of updating such description and (ii) Exhibit 4.1-Description of Securities, to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

Our Articles of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 125,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, and up to 100,000,000 shares of blank check preferred stock, par value \$0.0001 per share. Our Board may establish the rights and preferences of the preferred stock from time to time.

22

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The Selling Stockholders and any of their respective pledgees, assignees and successors-in-interest may, from time to time, sell any or all of their securities covered hereby on any trading market, stock exchange or other trading facility on which the securities are traded or in private transactions. These sales may be at fixed or negotiated prices. The Selling Stockholders may use any one or more of the following methods when selling securities:

- ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;
- block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the securities as agent but may position and resell a portion of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction;
- purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;
- an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;
- privately negotiated transactions;
- settlement of short sales;
- in transactions through broker-dealers that agree with the Selling Stockholders to sell a specified number of such securities at a stipulated price per security;
- through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;
- a combination of any such methods of sale; or
- any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.

The Selling Stockholders may also sell securities under Rule 144 under the Securities Act, if available, rather than under this prospectus.

Broker-dealers engaged by the Selling Stockholders may arrange for other brokers-dealers to participate in sales. Broker-dealers may receive commissions or discounts from the Selling Stockholders (or, if any broker-dealer acts as agent for the purchaser of securities, from the purchaser) in amounts to be negotiated, but, except as set forth in a supplement to this prospectus, in the case of an agency transaction not in excess of a customary brokerage commission in compliance with FINRA Rule 2440; and in the case of a principal transaction a markup or markdown in compliance with FINRA IM-2440.

In connection with the sale of the securities covered hereby, the Selling Stockholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions, which may in tum engage in short sales of the securities in the course of hedging the positions they assume. The Selling Stockholders may also sell securities short and deliver these securities to close out their short positions, or loan or pledge the securities to broker-dealers that in tum may sell these securities. The Selling Stockholders may also enter into option or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions or create one or more derivative securities which require the delivery to such broker-dealer or other financial institution of securities offered by this prospectus, which securities such broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction).

The Selling Stockholders and any broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling the securities may be deemed to be "underwriters" within the meaning of the Securities Act in connection with such sales. In such event, any commissions received by such broker-dealers or agents and any profit on the resale of the securities purchased by them may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts under the Securities Act. We are requesting that each Selling Stockholder inform us that it does not have any written or oral agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the securities. We will pay certain fees and expenses incurred by us incident to the registration of the securities.

Because the Selling Stockholders may be deemed to be "underwriters" within the meaning of the Securities Act, they will be subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act, including Rule 172 thereunder. In addition, any securities covered by this prospectus which qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 rather than under this prospectus. We are requesting that each Selling Stockholder confirm that there is no underwriter or coordinating broker acting in

connection with the proposed sale of the resale securities by the Selling Stockholder.

We intend to keep this prospectus effective until the earlier of (i) the date on which the securities may be resold by the Selling Stockholders without registration and without regard to any volume or manner-of-sale limitations by reason of Rule 144, without the requirement for us to be in compliance with the current public information requirement under Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any other rule of similar effect or (ii) all of the securities have been sold pursuant to this prospectus or Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any other rule of similar effect. The resale securities will be sold only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers if required under applicable state securities laws. In addition, in certain states, the resale securities covered hereby may not be sold unless they have been registered or qualified for sale in the applicable state or an exemption from the registration or qualification requirement is available and is complied with.

Under applicable rules and regulations under the Exchange Act, any person engaged in the distribution of the resale securities may not simultaneously engage in market making activities with respect to the Common Stock for the applicable restricted period, as defined in Regulation M, prior to the commencement of the distribution. In addition, the Selling Stockholders will be subject to applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, including Regulation M, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of the Common Stock by the Selling Stockholders or any other person. We will make copies of this prospectus available to the Selling Stockholders and are informing the Selling Stockholders of the need to deliver a copy of this prospectus to each purchaser at or prior to the time of the sale (including by compliance with Rule 172 under the Securities Act).

23

DISCLOSURE OF COMMISSION POSITION ON INDEMNIFICATION FOR SECURITIES ACT LIABILITY

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the issuance of the securities offered hereby will be passed upon for us by Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP of New York, New York.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of INVO Bioscience, Inc. as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, incorporated into this prospectus and the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of which it forms a part by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, have been so incorporated in reliance on the report (which contains an explanatory paragraph relating to the Company's ability to continue as a going concern as described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements) of M&K CPAs, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting. The combined financial statements of Wisconsin Fertility and Reproductive Surgery Associates, S.C. and Fertility Labs of Wisconsin, LLC as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022 incorporated into this prospectus and the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of which it forms a part by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 21, 2023, have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of M&K CPAs, an independent registered public accounting firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

This prospectus constitutes a part of a registration statement on Form S-1 filed under the Securities Act. As permitted by the SEC's rules, this prospectus and any prospectus supplement, which form a part of the registration statement, do not contain all the information that is included in the registration statement. You will find additional information about us in the registration statement and its exhibits. Any statements made in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement concerning legal documents are not necessarily complete and you should read the documents that are filed as exhibits to the registration statement or otherwise filed with the SEC for a more complete understanding of the document or matter.

You can read our electronic SEC filings, including such registration statement, on the internet at the SEC's website at *www.sec.gov.* We are subject to the information reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, and we file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. These reports, proxy statements and other information will be available at the website of the SEC referred to above. We also maintain a website at *www.wisatechnologies.com*, at which you may access these materials free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. However, the information contained in or accessible through our website is not part of this prospectus or the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, and investors should not rely on such information in making a decision to purchase our securities in this offering.

INCORPORATION OF DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

We incorporate by reference the filed documents listed below (excluding those portions of any Current Report on Form 8-K that are not deemed "filed" pursuant to the General Instructions of Form 8-K), except as superseded, supplemented or modified by this Prospectus Supplement or any subsequently filed document incorporated by reference herein as described below:

- our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on April 17, 2023 and our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the SEC on April 27,2023;
- our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023;
- our Current Reports on Forms 8-K filed with the SEC on January 5, 2023, January 5, 2023, January 12, 2023, January 23, 2023, February 9, 2023, February 23, 2023, March 20, 2023,
- the description of the Registrant's securities, which is contained in the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on November 12, 2020 under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, including any amendments or reports filed for the purpose of updating such description, as amended and Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed on April 17, 2023.

We also incorporate by reference in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus any future filings we make with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date hereof but before the completion or termination of this offering (excluding any information not deemed "filed" with the SEC).

Any statement contained in a document incorporated by reference herein or therein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for all purposes to the extent that a statement contained in this Prospectus Supplement and the Base Prospectus or in any other subsequently filed document which is also incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein or therein, modifies or supersedes such statement. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Prospectus Supplement and the Base Prospectus. You may request a copy of these filings (other than an exhibit to a filing unless that exhibit is specifically incorporated by reference into that filing) at no cost by writing, telephoning or e-mailing us at the following address, telephone number or e-mail address:

INVO Bioscience, Inc. 5582 Broadcast Court Sarasota, Florida 34240 (978) 878-9505 legal@invobio.com

Copies of these filings are also available through the "Investor Relations" section of our website at www.invobio.com. For other ways to obtain a copy of these filings, please refer to "Where You Can Find More Information" above.



INVO Bioscience, Inc.

Up to 6,241,493 Shares of Common Stock underlying Warrants

PROSPECTUS

The date of this prospectus is , 2023.

PART II - INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth an estimate of the fees and expenses relating to the issuance and distribution of the securities being registered hereby, other than underwriting discounts and commissions, all of which shall be borne by the registrant. All of such fees and expenses, except for the SEC registration fee, are estimated:

SEC registration fee	\$ 120.02
Transfer agent and registrar fees and expenses	\$ 5,000.00
Legal fees and expenses	\$ 20,000.00
Printing fees and expenses	\$ 5,000.00
Accounting fees and expenses	\$ 10,000.00
Miscellaneous fees and expenses	\$ 5,000.00
Total	\$ 45,120.02

Item 14. Indemnification of Officers and Directors.

We are a Nevada corporation and generally governed by the Nevada Private Corporations Code, Title 78 of the Nevada Revised Statutes (the "NRS").

Section 78.138 of the NRS provides that, unless the corporation's articles of incorporation provide otherwise, a director or officer will not be individually liable unless it is proven that (i) the director's or officer's acts or omissions constituted a breach of his or her fiduciary duties, and (ii) such breach involved intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of the law. Our articles of incorporation provide the personal liability of our directors is eliminated to the fullest extent permitted under the NRS.

Section 78.7502 of the NRS permits a company to indemnify its directors and officers against expenses, judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with a threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, if the officer or director (i) is not liable pursuant to NRS 78.138, or (ii) acted in good faith and in a manner the officer or director reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, if a criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct of the officer or director was unlawful. Section 78.7502 of the NRS requires a corporation to indemnify a director or officer that has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action or suit. Section 78.7502 of the NRS precludes indemnification by the corporation if the officer or director has been adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction, after exhaustion of all appeals, to be liable to the corporation or for amounts paid in settlement to the corporation, unless and only to the extent that the court determines that in view of all the circumstances, the person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnify for such expenses and requires a corporation to indemnify its officers and directors if they have been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any claim, issue, or matter resulting from their service as a director or officer.

Section 78.751 of the NRS permits a Nevada company to indemnify its officers and directors against expenses incurred by them in defending a civil or criminal action, suit, or proceeding as they are incurred and in advance of final disposition thereof, upon determination by the stockholders, the disinterested board members, or by independent legal counsel. If so provided in the corporation's articles of incorporation, bylaws, or other agreement, Section 78.751 of the NRS requires a corporation to advance expenses as incurred upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the officer or director to repay the amount if it is ultimately determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that such officer or director is not entitled to be indemnified by the company. Section 78.751 of the NRS further permits the company to grant its directors and officers' additional rights of indemnification under its articles of incorporation, bylaws, or other agreement.

Section 78.752 of the NRS provides that a Nevada company may purchase and maintain insurance or make other financial arrangements on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the company, or is or was serving at the request of the company as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another company, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, for any liability asserted against him and liability and expenses incurred by him in his capacity as a director, officer, employee, or agent, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the company has the authority to indemnify him against such liability and expenses.

Our articles of incorporation provide for indemnification of our officers and directors to the fullest extent permissible under Nevada General Corporation Law, in accordance with the Company's Bylaws. Our Bylaws provide for indemnification of our officers and directors to the fullest extent not prohibited by the Nevada; provided however, that the Company may modify the extent of such indemnification by individual contracts with its directors and officers; and provided, further, that the Company shall not be required to indemnify any director or officer in connection with any proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person unless (i) such indemnification is expressly required to be made by law; (ii) the proceeding was authorized by the board of directors; (iii) such indemnification is provided by the Company, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in the corporation under the Nevada General Corporation Law or; (iv) such indemnification is a result of the enforcement of a contractual right.

See "Item 17. Undertakings" for a description of the SEC's position regarding such indemnification provisions.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

In November 2020, pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, we issued 109 shares of common stock in consideration of consulting services rendered. We did not receive any proceeds from the issuance.

In November 2020, pursuant to Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act, we issued 453,699 shares of common stock with fair value of \$1,366,249 are the result of the conversion of notes payables and accrued interest.

In November 2020, pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, we issued 22,250 shares of common stock with a fair value of \$70,562 in consideration of consulting services rendered. We did not receive any proceeds from the issuance.

In March 2021, we issued 11,098 shares of our common stock upon conversion of 335,513.60 of accrued interest under certain of our convertible notes. We did not receive any proceeds upon conversion. We relied on the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) and/or Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

In March 2021, we issued 85,568 shares of our common stock upon exercise of outstanding unit purchase options. The unit purchase options were issued to purchase 131,114 shares and were exercised in full on a cashless basis and accordingly 45,546 shares were withheld by us at the market price of 9.20 per share less the exercise price of 32.0 per share to fund the exercise price. We relied on the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) and/or Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

In March 2021, we issued 131,114 warrants upon the exercise in full of 131,114 unit purchase options. We did not receive any proceeds upon exercise. We relied on the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) and/or Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

In March 2021, we issued 90,748 shares of our common stock upon exercise of outstanding warrants. The warrants were issued to purchase 139,056 shares and were exercised in full on a cashless basis and accordingly 48,308 shares were withheld by us at the market price of \$9.20 per share less the exercise price of \$3.20 per share to fund the exercise price. We relied on the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) and/or Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

During 2021, we issued 97,500 shares of our common stock to consultants and employees in consideration of services rendered. These shares were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We did not receive any proceeds from this issuance.

In November 2021, we issued 30,000 shares of our common stock in consideration for purchasing Effortless IVF with a fair value of 117,600. These shares were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We did not receive any proceeds from this issuance.

In December 2021, we issued 78,125 shares of our common stock upon conversion of 250,000 of a convertible promissory note. We did not receive any proceeds upon conversion. We relied on the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) and/or Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

In January 2022, the Company issued 94,623 shares of common stock to Paradigm Opportunities Fund, LP ("Paradigm"). The shares were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Company received \$315,000 in proceeds from this issuance.

In February 2022, we issued 3,000 shares of common stock to consultants in consideration of services rendered. These shares were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We did not receive any cash proceeds from this issuance.

In February 2023, we issued 233,333 shares of common stock to consultants in consideration of services rendered. These shares were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We did not receive any cash proceeds from this issuance.

II-2

On March 27, 2023, we issued common stock purchase warrants to purchase 5,520,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share to certain institutional investors in a concurrent private placement along with a registered direct offering. The warrants were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We did not receive any cash proceeds from this issuance.

On March 27, 2023, we issued common stock purchase warrants to purchase 147,200 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$0.8965 per share to the placement agent for our registered direct offering and concurrent private placement as consideration for their services. The warrants were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We did not receive any cash proceeds from this issuance.

In May 2023, we issued 122,283 shares of common stock to consultants in consideration of services rendered. These shares were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We did not receive any cash proceeds from this issuance.

Item 16. Exhibits.

The list of exhibits in the Exhibit Index to this registration statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 17. Undertakings.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
 - (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended;
 - (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of this registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in this registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in the volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of the securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement; and

information in this registration statement;

provided, however, that the undertakings set forth in paragraphs (1)(i), (1)(ii) and (1)(iii) above do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that are incorporated by reference in this registration statement or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of this registration statement;

- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof;
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering;
- (4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to any purchaser:
 - (i) Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424 (b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in this registration statement; and
 - (ii) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424 (b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii) or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or p

II-3

- (5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:
 - (i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
 - (ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
 - (iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and
 - (iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser,
- (6) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof;
- (7) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

II-4

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Sarasota, State of Florida, on June 23, 2023.

INVO BIOSCIENCE, INC.

By: /s/ Steven Shum

Steven Shum

Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Steven Shum and Andrea Goren, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution and re-substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities to sign any or all amendments (including, without limitation, post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, any related registration statement filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 1933 and any or all pre- or post-effective amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or any substitute or substitutes for her, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated have signed this registration statement below.

Signature

Title

/s/ Steven Shum	Chief Executive Officer and Director	June 23, 2023
Steven Shum	(principal executive officer)	
/s/ Andrea Goren	Chief Financial Officer	June 23, 2023
Andrea Goren	(principal financial officer)	
/s/ Trent Davis	Director	June 23, 2023
Trent Davis		
/s/ Matthew Szot	Director	June 23, 2023
Matthew Szot		
/s/ Barbara Ryan	Director	June 23, 2023
Barbara Ryan		
/s/ Rebecca Messina	Director	June 23, 2023
Rebecca Messina		
	II-5	

EXHIBIT INDEX

3.1	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
	Intended and restated Articles of incorporation, incorporated by felerence to Exhibit 5.1 to the carrier report on Form's Kined with the Securites and Exhibits
	Commission on January 5, 2009.
3.2	Certificate of Change. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22,
	<u>2020.</u>
3.3	By-Laws of INVO Bioscience. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2 filed with the Securities and Exchange
	Commission on November 13, 2007.
4.1	Description of Capital Stock, filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.
4.2	Form of Senior Secured Convertible Promissory Note, dated July 2009. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
	Securities and Exchange Commission on July 17, 2009.
4.3	Form of Convertible Promissory Note Purchase Agreement, dated July 2009. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
	the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 17, 2009.
4.4	Form of Convertible Promissory Note, dated January 2018. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 16, 2019.
4.5	Form of Convertible Note Purchase Agreement, dated January 2018. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 16.
	2019.
4.6	Form of Secured Convertible Note, dated May 2020. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
	Exchange Commission on May 15, 2020.
4.7	Form of Unit Purchase Option, dated May 2020. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
	Commission on May 15, 2020.
4.8	Form of Warrant, dated May 2020, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-O filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
	on May 15, 2020.
4.9	Form of Placement Agent Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report dated October 1, 2021 and filed with the Securities and
	Exchange Commission on October 5, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
4.10	Demand Promissory Note between the registrant and JAG Multi Investments LLC, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities
	Exchange Commission on November 14, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.
4.11	Form of Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.5 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2023 and incorporated
	herein by reference.
4.12	Form of Debenture, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2023 and incorporated
	herein by reference.
4.13	Form of Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2023 and incorporated
	herein by reference.
4.14	Form of Debenture, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2023 and incorporated
	herein by reference.
4.15	Form of Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2023 and incorporated
	herein by reference.
4.17	Form of Convertible Promissory Note, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2023
-1.17	and incorporated herein by reference.
4.18	Form of Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2023 and incorporated
10	herein by reference.
4.20	Form of Pre-funded Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2023 and
4.20	incorporated herein by reference.
4.21	Form of Private Placement Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2023 and
7.21	incorporated herein by reference.
4.22	Form of Placement Agent Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2023 and
4.22	incorporated herein by reference.
5.1*	Opinion of Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP
5.1* 10.1	Short Term Note, dated March 5, 2009 between the registrant and Kathleen Karloff. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
10.1	Short Term Note, dated March 5, 2009 between the registrant and Kathleen Karloff. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterry Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2009.
10.2	Short Term Note, dated May 19, 2019 between the registrant and Kathleen Karloff. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
10.2	Short Term Note, dated May 19, 2019 between the registrant and Kathleen Karlon. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterry Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2009.
10.3	
10.5	Promissory Note, dated August 9, 2016, between the registrant and Kavanaugh Rosenthal Peisch & Ford, LLP. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 the Annual
	Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 16, 2019.

Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 16, 2019.

- 10.5 Supply Agreement, dated November 12, 2018, between the registrant and Ferring International Center S.A. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 16, 2019.
- 10.6
 Joint Venture Agreement, dated January 13, 2020, between the registrant and Medesole Healthcare and Trading Private Limited, India. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 16, 2020.
- 10.7 Employment Agreement, dated October 16, 2019, between the registrant and Steven Shum. Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 15, 2019.
- 10.8
 Employment Agreement, dated January 15, 2020, between the registrant and Michael Campbell. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 21, 2020.
- 10.9 Commercial Lease Agreement, dated May 1, 2019 between the registrant and PJ LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2020.
- 2019 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 16, 2019.
 Pre-Incorporation and Shareholders Agreement between INVO Centers, LLC, Francisco Arredondo, M.D. PLLC and Ramiro Ramirez Guiterrez. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 30, 2020.
- 10.12 Distribution Agreement, dated November 23, 2020, between the registrant and IDS Medical Systems (M) Sdn Bhda. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 25, 2020.
- 10.13 Joint Venture Agreement, dated November 23, 2020, between the registrant and SNS Nurni SDN BHD. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 25, 2020.
- 10.14 Joint Venture Agreement, dated November 23, 2020, between the registrant and Ginekaliks Dooel. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 25, 2020.
- 10.15 Distribution Agreement, dated December 2, 2020, between the registrant and Tasnim Behboud Arman. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 8, 2020.
- 10.16 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated May 2020. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2020.
- 10.17 Form of Security Agreement, dated May 2020. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2020.
- 10.18 Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 2020. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2020.
- 10.19
 Amendment No. 1 to Distribution Agreement, between the registrant and Ferring International Center S.A. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 8, 2021.
- 10.20 HRCFG INVO LLC Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated March 10, 2021, between the registrant and HRCFG LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2021.
- 10.21 Note, dated March 10, 2021, between the registrant and HRCFG, LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2021.
- 10.22 Lease, dated March 2021, with Trustmark National Bank filed as Exhibit 10.22 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.23
 Partnership Agreement dated April 9, 2021 between the registrant and Lyfe Medical, LLC, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 9, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 13, 2021 and incorporated by reference herein.
- 10.24
 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Andrea Goren dated June 14, 2021, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 14, 2021

 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 15, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.25
 Joint Venture Agreement dated June 28, 2021 between INVO Centers, LLC and Bloom Fertility, LLC, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated

 June 28, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.

II-7

- 10.26 Limited Liability Company Agreement of Bloom INVO, LLC dated June 28, 2021, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.27
 Management Services Agreement dated June 28, 2021 between Bloom INVO LLC, Bloom Fertility LLC and Sue Ellen Carpenter, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.28
 INVOcell Supply Agreement dated June 28, 2021 between the registrant and Bloom INVO LLC, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.29
 Intellectual Property License Agreement dated June 28, 2021 between Bloom INVO LLC and the registrant, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.30
 Intellectual Property License Agreement dated June 28, 2021 between Bloom INVO LLC, Bio X Cell Inc. and the registrant, filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.31
 Sublease Agreement dated June 29, 201 between Assure Fertility Partners of Atlanta II, LLC and Bloom INVO LLC, filed as Exhibit 10.7 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.32
 Guarantee of Sublease made by the registrant in favor of Assure Fertility Partners of Atlanta II, LLC and Bloom INVO, LLC, filed as Exhibit 10.8 to our Current

 Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.33 Share Purchase Agreement dated September 1, 2021 among Ernest Broome, Lyle Oberg, Richard Ross, Dr. Seang Lin Tan, the registrant and Effortless IVF Canada Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report dated September 1, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 7, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.34
 Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 30, 2021 between the registrant and Paradigm Opportunities Fund, LP, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report dated

 October 1, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 4, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.35
 Placement Agent Agreement dated October 1, 2021 between the registrant and Paulson Investment Company, LLC, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report dated.

 October 1, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.

 10.36
 Form of Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 1, 2021 between the registrant and the purchasers set forth therein, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report

 dated October 1, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.

 10.37
 Termination Notice from Ferring International Center S.A. dated November 2, 2021, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 2, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 8, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.

- 10.38
 Amendment No. 1 to Stock Purchase Agreement dated November 29, 2021 between the registrant and Paradigm Opportunities Fund LP, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our

 Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 29, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 2, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.39 Amendment No. 2 to Stock Purchase Agreement dated November 29, 2021 between the registrant and Paradigm Opportunities Fund LP, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 31, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 6, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.41
 Exclusive Distribution Agreement between the registrant and Onesky Holding Limited dated May 13, 2022, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.42 Lease Agreement with INVO Centers, LLC dated May 23, 2022, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 26, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.43 Second Amended and Restated 2019 Stock Option Plan, filed as Appendix A to our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 25, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.44 Distribution Agreement by and between the registrant and Ming Mei Technology Co. Ltd. dated January 3, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

- 10.45 Form of Convertible Promissory Note, filed as Exhibit 4.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.46 Securities Purchase Agreement dated January 4, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.47 Registration Rights Agreement dated January 4, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

- 10.48
 Securities Purchase Agreement dated February 3, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.49 Registration Rights Agreement to Debenture and Warrant dated February 3, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.50 Equity Purchase Agreement dated February 3, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.51 Registration Rights Agreement to Equity Purchase Agreement dated February 3, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.52 Asset Purchase Agreement between the registrant, WFRSA and The Elizabeth Pritts Revocable Living Trust dated March 16, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 20, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.53
 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and between the registrant and FLOW, IVF Science, LLC dated March 16, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 20, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.54 Securities Purchase Agreement dated March 17, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.55 Registration Rights Agreement dated March 17, 2023, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 10.56 Placement Agency Agreement by and between the registrant and Maxim Group, LLC dated March 23, 2023, filed as Exhibit 1.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 21.1 Subsidiaries filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.
- 23.1* <u>Consents of M&K CPAs, PLLC</u>
- 23.2* Consent of Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP (included as Exhibit 5.1).
- 24.1* Power of Attorney (included on signature page)
- 107* <u>Filing Fee Table</u>
- 101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document
- 101.SCH*
 Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

 101.CAL*
 Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
- 101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
- 101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
- 101.PRE * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
- 104* Cover Page Interactive Data File the cover page of the registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 is formatted in Inline XBRL

* Filed herewith

** Furnished herewith



SheppardMullin

Exhibit 5.1

June 23, 2023

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL

INVO Bioscience, Inc. 5582 Broadcast Court Sarasota, FL 34240

Re: <u>Registration Statement on Form S-1</u>

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel to INVO Bioscience, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the "Company"), in connection with the issuance of this opinion which relates to a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (the "Registration Statement") filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). The Registration Statement covers the resale of 6,241,493 shares (the "Shares") of the Company's common stock, \$0.0001 par value per share ("Common Stock"), consisting of (A) 50,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee (the "February Purchase Agreement Commitment Shares") under the February Purchase Agreement (defined below), (B) 150,000 shares of Common Stock issued as a commitment fee (the "February 2023 Equity Purchase Agreement Commitment Shares," together with the February Purchase Agreement Commitment Shares, the "Commitment Shares") under that certain Equity Purchase Agreement, dated February 3, 2023, between the Company and the February Investor (defined below) (the "February 2023 Equity Purchase Agreement"), and (C) shares of Common Stock issuable upon (i) the exercise of certain common stock purchase warrants (the "March 2023 Warrants"), to purchase up to 5,520,000 shares of Common Stock (the "March 2023 Warrant Shares"), at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share, issued by us to certain institutional investors on March 23, 2023 in a private placement transaction pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, dated as of March 23, 2023 (the "March Purchase Agreement"); (ii) the conversion of a convertible debenture (the "Debenture") in the current outstanding principal amount of \$100,000 plus accrued interest of \$1,775, which is convertible at a fixed conversion price of \$0.52 into 195,271 shares of Common Stock (the "Conversion Shares"); (iii) the exercise of common stock purchase warrants (the "Placement Agent Warrants") to purchase 147,200 shares of Common Stock (the "Placement Agent Warrant Shares") issued to Maxim Partners, LLC, as placement agent for the March Purchase Agreement, at an exercise price of \$0.8965 per share and (iv) the exercise of certain common stock purchase warrants (the "February 2023 Warrants.") to purchase up to 178,572 shares of Common Stock (the "February 2023 Warrant Shares," together with the March 2023 Warrant Shares and the Placement Agent Warrant Shares, the "Warrant Shares"), at an exercise price of \$0.63 per share, issued by us to a certain institutional investor (the "February Investor") on February 3, 2023 in a private placement transaction pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, dated as of February 3, 2023 (the "February Purchase Agreement").

This opinion letter is being delivered in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5)(i) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act, and no opinion is expressed herein as to any matter pertaining to the contents of the Registration Statement.

In connection with the issuance of this opinion letter, we have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of:

a. the Registration Statement, including the prospectus contained therein and all exhibits thereto;

b. the February 2023 Equity Purchase Agreement;

c. the March 2023 Purchase Agreement;

-1-

SheppardMullin

Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton LLP 30 Rockefeller Plaza New York, New York 10112-0015 212.653.8700 main 212.653.8701 fax www.sheppardmullin.com

d. the February Purchase Agreement;

e. the March 2023 Warrants;

f. the February 2023 Warrants;

g. the Placement Agent Warrants;

h. the Debenture;

i. the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended and presently in effect (the "Charter");

j. the Bylaws of the Company as presently in effect (the "Bylaws"); and

k. certain resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company relating to the issuance of the Shares being registered pursuant to the Registration Statement.

We have also examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of such records of the Company and such agreements, certificates and receipts of public officials, certificates of officers or other representatives of the Company and others, and such other documents as we have deemed necessary or appropriate as a basis for the opinions stated below.

In our examination, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, including endorsements, the legal capacity and competency of all natural persons, the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as facsimile, electronic, certified or photostatic copies, and the authenticity of the originals of such copies. As to any facts relevant to the opinions stated herein that we did not independently establish or verify, we have relied

upon statements and representations of officers and other representatives of the Company and others and of public officials.

For the purposes of this opinion letter, we have assumed that at the time of issuance of each Conversion Share and/or Warrant Share, the Charter, the Bylaws, the Certificate of Designation and the Warrants, as applicable, will not have been modified or amended and will be in full force and effect. In addition, it is understood that this opinion is to be used only in connection with the offer and sale of the securities being registered while the Registration Statement is effective under the Securities Act.

Based upon the foregoing and subject to the qualifications and assumptions stated herein, we are of the following opinions:

1. The Debenture and the Warrants constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms.

2. The Commitment Shares have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of the Company under the Nevada Revised Statutes (the "NRS") and, such Commitment Shares are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

3. The Conversion Shares have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of the Company under the Nevada Revised Statutes (the "NRS") and, when the Conversion Shares are delivered in accordance with the terms of the Debenture and when evidence of the issuance thereof is duly recorded in the Company's books and records, the Conversion Shares will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

-2-

SheppardMullin

Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton LLP 30 Rockefeller Plaza New York, New York 10112-0015 212.653.8700 main 212.653.8701 fax www.sheppardmullin.com

3. the Warrant Shares have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of the Company under the NRS and, when the Warrant Shares are delivered and paid for in accordance with the terms of the Warrants and when evidence of the issuance thereof is duly recorded in the Company's books and records, the Warrants Shares will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

Our opinion set forth in paragraph 1 above is subject to (i) the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally, (ii) general equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) and (iii) an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

The opinion we render herein is limited to those matters governed by the State of New York and the NRS as of the date hereof and we disclaim any obligation to revise or supplement the opinion rendered herein should the above-referenced laws be changed by legislative or regulatory action, judicial decision, or otherwise. We express no opinion as to whether, or the extent to which, the laws of any particular jurisdiction apply to the subject matter hereof. We express no opinion as to matters governed by any laws other than the State of New York or the NRS.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion as an exhibit to the Registration Statement. We also hereby consent to the reference to our firm under the heading "Legal Matters" in the Registration Statement. In giving this consent, we do not thereby admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Act.

This opinion letter is rendered as of the date first written above and we disclaim any obligation to advise you of facts, circumstances, events or developments which hereafter may be brought to our attention and which may alter, affect or modify the opinion expressed herein. Our opinion is expressly limited to the matters set forth above and we render no opinion, whether by implication or otherwise, as to any other matters relating to the Company, the Shares, the Debenture and the Warrants, or any other agreements or transactions that may be related thereto or contemplated thereby. We are expressing no opinion as to any obligations that parties other than the Company may have under or in respect of the Shares and the Warrants or as to the effect that their performance of such obligations may have upon any of the matters referred to above. No opinion may be implied or inferred beyond the opinion expressly stated above.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton LLP

SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP





CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation in this Registration Statement on Form S-1, of our report dated June 21, 2023, of Fertility Labs of Wisconsin, LLC and Wisconsin Fertility and Reproductive Surgery Associates, S.C. relating to the audit of the combined financial statements as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and for the periods then ended, and the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" in the Registration Statement.

/s/ M&K CPA's, PLLC

Houston, TX June 23, 2023



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation in this Registration Statement on Form S-1, of our report dated April 17, 2023, of INVO Bioscience, Inc. relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and for the periods then ended, and the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" in the Registration Statement.

/s/ M&K CPA's, PLLC

Houston, TX June 23, 2023

NETCAPITAL INC. (Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Table 1: Newly Registered and Carry Forward Securities

Title of each Class of Securities To be Registered	Amount to be registered (1)	Proposed maximum Offering price per share (2) (3)		Proposed maximum aggregate Offering price (1)(2)		Amount of registration fee (3)	
Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value per share	200,000	\$	0.1745	\$	34,900	\$	3.85
Shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.0001 per share issuable upon exercise of common stock purchase warrants Shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.0001 per share issuable upon conversion of debenture	5,845,772 195,721	\$	0.1745	\$ \$	1,020,087 34,153	\$ \$	112.41 3.76
	155,721	φ	0.1745	φ	54,155	ψ	5.70
Total	6,241,493			\$	1,089,140	\$	120.02
Registration Fee Previously Paid						\$	-
Registration Fee Paid Herewith						\$	120.02

(1) Estimated solely for the purpose of computing the amount of the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(o) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").

(2) Pursuant to Rule 416, the securities being registered hereunder include such indeterminate number of additional securities as may be issuable to prevent dilution resulting from stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions.

(3) Calculated under Section 6(b) of the Securities Act as .0001102 times the proposed maximum aggregate offering price.